On October 7, less than two weeks after the arrival of the
'f| 4 2 - -v..l-r
first transferees gerious dif[iuulnies beolm=ewt with the coal
crew over the termlnatlion of three members of the crew. The
administration thoreupon terminated 43 additional men. ‘he follow-
L/{AJ‘£ A Gl oy e
ing day theipﬂpositions were thrown open to anyone who would take
\stll v\_,I(J’\.A-

them but no Jepenese/ came forward ,te—take—bhe—jobs., Two days
later, the administration gave way, rehired the 43 terminated workers
and made certaln concessions by promising the crew members, cover-
,alls, gloves and a mid-morning snack 1

Letalls as to what caused\ this str{gg or what transpired were

almost impossible to obtain., Ehe-wréter’hﬁﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁﬁ“Tnfvrmeﬁ-by
aLLL _[_’pk A . [ Cn s
uapaneseAthat the,coal cre¥ was assisted by certain ambitious
leaders from Topaz, men who desired to make a place for themselves
ﬂ"(\“u" AN
in the Tule Lake politics. One of the mefArepited to have taken
part in this activity gave Wme-wmdter the following account. He
stated that he had been approached by five men two of whom were
coal crew foremen and told that there was a grievance among the
coal drivers. A Qaucasian in charge caught certain of the coal
crew "resting" because of the heat. He stated, "You are getting
paid %16,00 a montih and I don't want to see you loafing on your
Job and resting like this.," The Japanese thereupon stated that
they were being fed poor food and the work was too difficult.

ihe Caucasian retorted that their food did not concern him; his

responsibility was to see that they all worked. However, with the

o
assistance of Mr. liayeda, the Head of the uivic Organizations, the

matter was settled and'the men who had been fired were allowed to

return with full pay.g
-ﬁﬁ£ﬂ

;ule Lakxe Incident, Sequence of Lvents, p., 1.
ﬁsn Hankey, Notes, Sept. 29, 1944, p. 3.
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THE PRELIMINARY ACTIVITIES OF TH: POLITICIANS

The coal crew worlk stoppage of October 7 and the organizational
activities manifested in the far more serious difficulties which
were to follow strongly indicate that a considerable amount of
indivlidual pelitical activity was initiated by evacuee politicians,
would-be leaders, immediately after their entry into camp. In the
opening weeksa of October, certaln men were already attempting to
build up their prestige and eatablish a followinq. Small meetings
were held in the homes of these ambitious persons, meetings to
which other men of some politlical reputation were lnvited. One
small group, headed by an issel who later became fairly prominent
in the dominam t pressure group, directed its efforts to getting a
foothold with the farm wﬂrknrs.l These informally organized groups

P

of men desirous of becoming influential and important in the future

Tale Lake Uentu% disintegrated or wern drawn into the eamp
-k{n.;_ ‘\,ALJ\ o Lo e "”'q e ""?: Gr-lf
S 3351 October 16, ¢
The 0lLd Tulean politiclans, however, were not oblivious to tie
intentlions of the new comers, %Yo counteract the political activities

-~

of the incoming group, prominent Tuleans hoped to use the Planning

Board, a body which had served as an 1ssel advisory council in the

pre-segregation group but had been d%psolyed by Mr. Best at the
YA a
time of segregation. As an 0ld Tulean)told the writer: "Some of

the big shot 014 Tuleans had planned thet that organization (the
Planning Board) was golng to be the political boss to rule Tule
Lake." These high hopes were also ﬁaqhnﬁ by, the unanticipated,

a

spontaneous appearance of theA"

linformation from Kuratomi, ibid., April 13, 1945, p. 3.
2fpom Tsuda, 1bid., April 18, 1945, p. 2.
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THE FARM TRUCK ACCIIENT

Two serious accidents occurred in mid-October, On October 14th
a speeding fire truck answering a call turned over, Three fire -
men were seriously injured. A far more serious accident occurred
the next day, an event which proved to be the spark which touched
off the accumulation of community grievances and led directly
to the convulsion which shook the center 1ln the weeks to follow.
The driver of a farm truck carrylng 30 passengers to their work
on the farm attempted to pass the truck shead. In passing, the
rear wheel dropped onto a soft shoulder. The truck turned over,
throwing most of the passengers out upon the ground and pinning
five men underneath, Five of the men were seriously injured, one
T, Kashima dled the following day. The remainder were cut and
bruised.l The driver of the truck was a young man, 19 years old.,

MEETINGS OF THE FARM WORKERS

An accident of this magnitude produced an immediate state of
excltement and tension among the camp residents. With a large
proportion of the residents already in a state of extreme dis-.

U\J }_,CM]‘\ erL-

satisfaction with their new found lot at Tule Lake Wedmi)tension

{t !‘;,‘&-‘ g ¥ ™ A LA w-\_ r'{,,f ..:.h

possessed(the potentiallty of wismdsas to a dangerous pealk of emotional
unbalance. ‘“he blame, justly or unjustly, was put upon the adminis -
tration. Almost immediately, the incorrect rumor that the driver

of the truck was only 16 years old and that his employment repre-
sented deplorable negligence on the part of the WRA for placing

the lives of the evacuees in the hands of a minor, spread through

the camp .

lfrom the report presented by Fenton H, Mahrt, Assistant Chief of
Internal Security to R. R. Best, Project Director.




Itk MEETING OF THE FARM GROUP

For some time before this accident the farmers a large

proportion of whom were transferees} had been in a disgruntled

and resentful state of mind. They had requested closed instead
of open trucks to transport them to work, but had been given no
satisfaction. OUn the very day of the accident they are said to

have been stopped at the gate by the sentry because some of them

dld not have proper passes. Accordingly some of them did not g0

£

to work that morning. An informant stateds

"I heard the workers grumbling, 'Why should we go out of
the project to work? If we have to go to all this trouble, why
should we work?'"2

flowever, Mr. Sato, the head foreman was able to ¢$nduce the
men to return to work that afternoon. On the way to work the

accldent occurred, which put Mr., Sato in a difficult position,

Understandably,:khe farm workers , were tremendously affected

by the accldent, feeling themselves in the same danger as their
injured friends and co-workers. They held a meeting the same day
the accldent occurred., Previous to this, the farmers had made a
preliminary effort at organization, electing a representative for
each crew. These crew representatives and the foremen met in

the block 7 mess hall. The farm workers and a large crowd of
curious persons gathered outside. Shocked, frightened and angry, -
thelr primary concern was self-protection, "unless they were safe-
guarded they would not go out of the center."3 It has been pos-
sible to obtain very little reliable information on what transpired

at this or the following farm meetings. The farmers were for the

luccording to Hatano, the Chairman of the Farm Group.
L . >

“R. Hankey, Notes, April 30, 1945, p. 2.

°R. Hankey, Notes, Sept. 18, 1944, p. 6.




most part simple uneducated people who viewed attempts to get
informatlon with an enormous suspicion which it was impossible to
break down.,

The excited farmers elected a chairman, Mr, Hatano and
declded not to return to work until the administration took
steps to prevent further accidents and provided adequate compensa-
tion for the injured persons. The farmers wished it clearly under-
stood that thls work stoppage was not a "strike", for, they reasoned,
a strike would glve the administration just cause for terminating
thelr employment, an eventuality which they were most anxious to

m 1, 1

avoid. Thelr aim was "to refuse to work" until the 1ssue was

settled. IFurthermore, they decided not to extend the work stoppaz e

to those workers who cared for the hogs and chickens, a decision
o 3




dictated partly out of consideration for the animals and
probably, to a larger extent, out of consideration of the fact
that the animals represented an important part of the camp's
food supply.

Certain of the more aggressive farmers gs well as the
ambitious-bagn;ﬁaaee leaders did not fall to perceive that this
grave accldent and the work stoppage, which jeopardized thousands
of dollars worth of mature crops ($150,000%) offered an unparalleled
opportunity to bring pressure on the administration to alleviate
the numerous real and fancled grievances of’:;gﬂs;;;?;o-.eﬂ and
improve the camp facllities. The suggestlion was put forward that
the lssue was too 1lmportant for the farmers to handle alone and
that they should get camp-wide support, How this suggestion was

recelved ls not knawn, Pro%ab{y sentiment was d vided.
w&‘w \"‘d

[ Yol { © o
ngnother meeting wﬁz hi at-evening.or.the--day folio
thlspeeddn: feverend Kai of Jeronﬁe,h GSEPSI Takah &Shi &ndQK;;gQ

of Topaz and probably other . The manner in,which

LA b

L
R S |

these “"invitations" were extended 1s questionable, Probably, the
more excited and lrate farmers, those most desirous of using the
accldent to create a major incident, took it upon themselves to
function as a self appointed committee., In this distinctly unof-
ficlal capacity, they invited men who had the reputation of anti-
administration leaders and capable orators in the centers from
which they had come.l Reverend Kal was a Buddhist priest aﬁ-hnang_
ald.simeere DRoedapanese —piwws who was held in high esteem by many
of the transferegs from Jerome. Mr, Takahashi, a much older man,

had enjoyed a considerable reputation as.a leader in Topaz.(;Kat

1This section based on information which Yamatani gave to the FBI,
Exerpts from FBI Report on Tule Lake Incident, p. 63,
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was aNounp; MWOI)&ZPM The se

e ™
men were Dby no means insensible to'{he opportunity to increase their

prestige which this situation presented.2
Very 1likely this second meeting was held in an extremely

emotional atmosphere. The most excited and agressive farmers and
the "invited" leaders probably made fiery, table-pounding speeches,
denouncing the carelessness of the administration and calling‘ﬁpon
the farmers to behave like "true Japanese."5 For their own protec-
tion they were exhorted not to return to work until the administra-
tion had provided the compensation to which the injured persons |
were entitled, and had taken steps to guard against a recurrance.
In the face of the emotlional state which so serious an accident
would produce, it would not be difficult to sway the group to the
opinion that the accident should be made a camp-wide issue.4 A
committee or committees were appolnted to take the necessary steps.
to accomplish this. Hash and reckless sentiments would appeal to
and be readlly approved by the majority of persons present., The
few Individuals who might disapprove would be afraid oy reallzing
thelir helplessness, would hesitate to speak. If they did speak

they would be ignored.,

lA 'strong-arm" group is camp parlance for a loosely organized

body of young men given to boisterous, violent, hoodlumish
activities, They invariably come into prominence at times of
tension and crisis.

2
See pp. for a discussion of the temperament of many of the
leaders of this period.

his exhortation to "behave like a true Japanese" is frequently
used by belligerent speakers desirous of urging some action upon
their audience. Needless to say, the action proposed may be far
removed from genuine Japanese 1deology.

4This recoustruction 1s based on discussions with Nishimoto, Kuri-
hara, and several experlenced politicians in Tule Lake. The

detalls come from Kuratomi andVKato, R. Hankey, Notes, Sept, 18,
1944 PP« 5, 6. FLARANM A AN




Draft 11

A resolution was passed, laylng the blame for the accident on
the WRA, firstly, for employlng a miior as a passenger truck driver,
(the Japanese believed the driver to pe 16 or 18 years old. He

was 19.), and secondly, for taking no defiunite action to prevent

the rire truck accident of October 14th. [It was declded "to

request and demand for legitimate action from the administration
and also to prevent any such happenings in the future," Fart of
the farmers' resolution reads:

"We wish to bring about the solution of various other problems
iln the center. ''hls problem should be the concern of all the
residents of tnls center, We resolve to make this a center-wide
affair and we, the Farm Workers, will uot return to our p es of
employment until our request for such is grm ted fully."1%f7

"COOPERATION" OF BLOCK MANAGEHS GAINED -- BLOCK MANAGERS MEETING
CALLE D

In order to ralse the incident to the stature of a center-
wide affalr 1t was necessary to put the matter before all of the
residents. The most convenlent mechanism through which this could
be accomplished was the Block Managers Central Organization or,
The Civic Organizations, as this body was termed at wule Lake,

The Civic Organlzations consisted of the seven Ward Representatives,
a body formed of a block Manager from each ward, headed by a Chair-
man, Assistant Chalrman and Secretary.

The great majority of this small group of leading Block Mana-
- Yatod of okd TR Toh mah thas
gers consisted of o eanss Yet, when they were approached by
several commlittees of farmers and the newly created farmers'
champions, with the proposition that the farm accident be made a

camp-wide 1ssue and that a body, representing the entire camp, be

elected to handle the matter, they were obliged to take action

1
Translated for the writer by G. Kuratomi, from a resolution
passed by the farmers at their second meeting.




whether they desired to or not. The atmosphere of the camp was

extremely tense, the people aroused, angry and excited. Moreover,
aarr A0 .

according to Mr., Adachi, a conservative 01d Tulean and a prominent

member of the Civic Organizations, the Block Managers themselves

were of the opinlon that actlion should be taken to improve food

and malntonance. Since segregation they had been on the receiving

end of innumerable complaints from the dlsgruntled, irate residents.

"They looked forward to lmprovement; like me, I'd rather eat some-

thing better than beans if I could get it."l According to Mr,

Hatano, Mr, layeda, Head of Civic Organizations first referred

the farmers to the Planning Board, Since the Planning Board

"explained that they were unable to handle it" the farmers returned

to the Clvie Organizations and asked that block delegates be

elected to handle the matter,< Accordingly, a meeting of all the

Elock Managers was called on October 16. They voted unanimously

to hold block elections for the express purpose of electing two

repregentatives from sach blocl:, an official representative and

an agslatant representative. These representatives were to form

the body which would undertake actlion on the ferm sccident.

T

Unqualiflied support of the resolution of the Farm Worker's General
Meetling was expreased and it was decided to request visits from
Dillon 5, myer md the Spanish Consul. The peoples' whole hearted
support was asked in taking advantage of this opportunity to

improve the living conditions of the center.a Adachi informed

the writer that the Block Managers felt that in this matter they

were acting only as an instrument to relay information to the

IR, Hankey, Notes, Jan. 8, 1045, p. 1.

gibid., April S50, 1945, p. J.

JIranslated for the writer by U, Kuratomi, from resolution passed
at The Block Managers meeting, Uct, 15, 1943.




that they were strictly avoiding any implication in
an ingenious rationalization indeed.

OF THb RePRRSENTATIVE BODY —- 1'HE DAIHYO SHA KAI

The Block Managers called meetings in thelr respective

blocks and the elections were held, wixty-four representatives

z O .
i, Hankey, Notes, ibid.
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and an equal number of assistant representatives were selected.

Thls body came to be called the Daihyo Sha Kal which translated

into English signified "Representative Body." The title was
not adopted or selected by the group but was spontaneously taken
up by the people.

It 1s difficult to get conclusive evidence as to how well

«F Anror I B

these block meetings were attended. 4Adachi, who, as a prominent
member of the Clviec Organizations was in an excellent position to
know what went on, stated that he felt safe in saying that better
than sixty pepcent of the adults in camp attended tﬁe meetings,
Mrs, | %32£d;£?? an honest informant, stated that in her block (68)
the attendance was very large. "Everybody went because they wanted
to know what was golng on,"l Large attendance at this time of
crisis was to be expected. Importent things were transpiring and
the curlosity of a fact-starved populace would be sufficient
incentive to bring out almost every able bodied resident.

These elections were held under most peculiar conditions.
They were characterized by extreme spontaniety, a sense of emerg-
ency, and great emotlonalism, In most sections of camp, the
inhabitants of the blocks had lived together from one to two
weeks, They were acquainted only with their fellow block residents
who had come from their own centers, They were inclined to select
[gs thelr representatives belligerent, vociferous individuals who
had gained the reputation of being agressive opponents of the
administration in the centers from which they had come. Little
or no thought coul}AbaLgiven to e qualifications of the candi-

dates. If, for example, there were a sufficlent number of trans-

Marvanale
ferees from Topaz in one block, they would pot—up—e ncted "beoileon-

Lipia,,
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QTm' »mi:ia m
T ! —~ '.L and the

remalning residents, :irheterogeneous mixture from,Jerome, Gila,
Heart Mountain,ggggif, Granada and Tule Lake, have aimosatd
no chance to get anyone else elected, Thils does not imply that
all of the men elected were unbalanced hot-heads or that there was
any dlshonesty or undue pressure used in the elections. Under
the clrcumstancesit 1s difficult to see how, in most blocks, the
people could do anything else but select the—most ahle il

an individual whom the administration

would term an "agitator:2;>

<:;;is probable that in many blocks the people did not even

vote, since at meetings of this sort a man may get up, speak for a
friend or acquaintance and secure his appointment by popular acclaim,
The people are carried away by the oratory of the speaker and applaud
him vigorously. No one else has the courage or interest to put
forward another nominee, and the object of the speech receives the
position "by appointment;"?z:r

On Uctober 17 the injured farmers formally placed all negotia=-
tilons and claims regarding the accident "in the hands of the
accldent commlttee selected from the colonists" by which they

meant the ulalhyo Sha Kal, signing the following statements:

4ll negotiations and claims which I may have with W. R, A,
concerning the accident which happened on October 15, 1943 on the
Farm Road, I hereby put in the hands of the accident committee
selected from the colonists which will be my representative,<

Thls statement was obtained by Kuratomi and several other of
the newly elected members of the representative body or the Daihyo

Sha Kal., KXuratoml explained to the writer that they obtal ned

ISeveral informants have 1mplied that this happened in their blocks,
The writer has observed paralleles in Gila, cite Oda, Feb., or Mar, '44

2From a copy of thls statement shown to the writer by Kato.
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a statement from each farmer as to the extent of his injuries,
his name and his age.l

FIRST MEETING OF THE DAIHYO SHA KAI

On October 17 the elected or appointed representatives met
in the block 16 mess hall and held their first formal mee ting,
The minutes of this and later sessions were later confiscated by
the Internal Securlty and translated into English by Hyakutaro

Mori, vice-president of the Daihyo Sha. Several relisble infor-

mants have stated that when 1t became apparent that the minutes
might be conflscated, the Japanese secretary erased portions of
the minutes which he thought might incriminate friends. These
documents must therefore be employed with clrcumspection, For-
tunately, Mr, Kuratomi checked and corrected these minutes for
the writer and mr.~hatb\:a member of the Negotiating Committee,
described the first meeting in great detail. With this assistance
it was possible to avoid serious errors, trace down some of the
insertions and omissions, and obtain an unusually animated picture
of at least the first meeting. These minutes will be dlscussed
in detail for, with sll1 their errors and ambiguities, they are
very slignificant documents and reveal the psychological state and
the motives and intentions of the body, which were in large part
mlsunderstood by the administration.

Thls meeting was attended by 64 men, each representing a block,
and by others referred to as "non-Palhyo Sha." The latter were
representativesof the lMotor Fool, the Hog Farm, the Agricultural

Uivision and certain other unidentified prersons who attended the

meeting on thelr own iqvitation nyakutaro Morl, one of the Lt Tl
T

| {x,r | Roar. Ayt r bt T #F\ AP g

ambitious po11tician34 was appointed tempO“ary chairman by {,‘, &Q;r

1R, hankey, Notes, April 9, 1945, p. 3.
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applqnae.l It was then gee d that all non-members leave the
floor to facilitate the calling of the roll but this was not done ,
Nomination were then made for the post of permanent chalrman
and Toshio (George) Kuratomi was elected, obtaining exactly hd f
the 58 votes cast: Kuratomi, 29 votes; H. Mori, 20 votes; A,
Takahashi, 9 votes., The defeat of Mr, Takashashi should be remarked
upon here, for later it was widely rumored that he, a prominent
Topaz transferee, coveted and expected to obtaln the position of
chalrman or at least a position on the Negotiating Committee.

Several Informants have hinted that he carried his Jealousy of

Messrs., Kail and Kuratomi to the polnt of betraying the Daihyo Sha

to the Administration. Whether he was actually gullty of treach-
erous informing cannot be determined. However, the minutes of

the Dalhyo Sha meetings and other documents glve considerable

evldence that he was uncooperative and strove repeatedly to obtain

personal prestige. Moreover, he later became advisor %o the body

which actively opposed the polieles of the Dalhyo Sha. Although

e was a very prominent member of the "agitating group," he was
never arrested by the WRA or the Army. This fact has always been

regarded with suspiclon by camp residents.

T :
Un belng asked to explain how a person was appointed "by applause"

oo Kato stated that several people would be nominated and the one

NI

recelving the greatest applause would be consldered the successful
candldate, His explanation is ambiguous, What usually happens is
that an interested group gets together before a meetling and decides
whom they will nominate. The name is then put forward and if the
man 1s capable he almost always recelves enough applause to get him
the position, It is not, therefore, a method of selecting one or
more men from a group of nominees. Rather, 1t amounts to a forced
appolintment put through by a clique. The procedure 1is very common
in camp meetings,




Following the electlion of Mp, Kuratomi, Mr, Mori was selected
as vice-chairman, having recelved the second largest number of

votea, It was decided that secretaries need not be Laihyo Sha Kai

members and H, Katayama, Tanaka, and S, Komiya were appointed

Vli./N"’ L el

Japanese secretarlies while S.wkato was appointed English

secretary. These men were also selected by applause,
Kuratoml then addressed the body, emphaslzed that thls meeting
was of great significance to the colonists and that the members

should refrain from rash and ana siderate words during the dis-

cussion. Thereupon Kazama, tthn-;::zhntaét- bﬁpkﬁqrtéggzz;ti

St Sheonym@olLantily tvimeposttiow) , tock the floor and read the farm

workers' resolution, Chalrman Kuratoml recommended that before
this toplc was opened for dlscussion, the bQidy should decide upon
some definite policy for the future, Reverend Kal, the represente-
tive from block 5, suggested that since time was limlted, the body
should proceed with some specific agenda. XKuratomi asked 1f they
should begin with the report of the farm incident and Kal recommended
that the farm group should present their recommendation. This
was accordingly done by Mr, Hatano, chairman of the farm group.
The recommendations weres: (1) Prosecution of the responsible
parties, (2) Termination of minors, (3) Urgency of consultation
with the Administration and the Spanish Consul, (4) Report of the
consultation with the Adminlstration should be submitted to the
Spanish Consul as soon as possible, and (5) Disposition of the
case of those injured in the farm accident,

Rev., Kal then suggested that Nishioka, the foreman of the
lMotor Pool glve an explanation of the employment of minors,

Nishioka and two other representatives of the Motor Pool section,




Matsunaga and Okamoto alternately related the story of the acel-

dent to the assembled bodu. Their great apprehension lest they
u 4 pvadog_ A
be held responsible for the selde hows through the awkward

phrasing of the minute; and 1s indicative of the tenslon and
traan Wl Cotlon, ST (o4 Qs stt Aletrvm,

fear éf;eadv existing in camp. IAKato ?ewarked‘

U\,/»’Mr‘l\ B
Derdmmrr | man. e D o e N

"The representatives of the Motor Pool were really scared to
death. They apologized and gave condolence,"l

The motor pool employees apologized for the fact that some of

the drivers were mlnors. No doubt they felt partially responsible

for tnis. They stated that they were doing their utmost to bring

'about a satisfactory disposition of the case and appealed to the

Daihyo Sha to give them full support, Mr. Nishioka also explained

the WRA regulation on the age of drivers and it was concluded
that according to this regulation the employment of a 16 year
0ld boy was a violation. (This discussion did not have much point,
for the driver 1lnvolved in the fatal accident was 19 years old.
This fact was not known either to the béjdy or to the colonists,)
Several questlons were then asked: whether these regulations
were applicable outside the fence; whether the drivers had chauf-
feur's licences or operator's licences; whether Social Security
compensation applied to such cases; whether insurance was provided
for. None of the questious were clearly answered and it was
suggested from the floor that a committee be selected to clarify
the matter. Rev, Kal suggested that instead, the body should pro-
ceed with the urgent plans regarding negotiation on the incident.

Kuratomi suggested that instead of attempting to approach the

whole 1lssue at thls time, the body should select a number of

'R, Hankey, Notes, Nov. 10, 1944, p. 2.
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committeea to make investigations by departmente, Takahashi stated
that he wished to make clear the legality of 16 wvear old drivers
and the appllcabllity of accldent insurance before poing into the
matter of approinting committees. Kuratoml replied that he would
have the investigating committee go into these questions. The
representastives of the Motor Poonl were then excused,

Uchida then asked if the foreman of the apricultural division
had notified the Administration of the accident within 48 hours
of 1ts occurrance. The chlef farm foreman, Sato, an o0ld Tulean,
whom the writer knows as an extremely cautious individual replied:

"As 1 was afrald to be taken as if I were taking side of the
\dministration, I hesitated to go alcone to report this matter,
I did not, as yet, make any report to the Administration,"

Lord savedne

In explanation of this matter, Mr atd told the writer:

“In Poston where they had a similar case, all the saccidents
had to De reported withln 48 hours, Uchlda asked 1f <ato had
reported it. Sato stated that he hedn't because if he did go to
the ddministratlon, thie people would brand him as an ..I'ft.l. Uchida
stated that they must make a committee as soon as possible and see
1f the admiulstration had made a proper report to Washington and

to the United Ststes meloyment Compensation, "l
Rev., Kal stated that he cuestioned Sato's responsibility,
since Sato, as a responsible man, had not reported the accident
immediately. He repeated Uchida's suggestion that a committee be
formed to consult with the Administration and was loudly applauded.®
Hev, Kal then repeated the suggestion already made by Xuratomi
that a number of committees be formed to investigate the numerous
matters which rejuirsd improvement, Mohri backed him up saying:
“Improvement of roads, shower rooms, latrines, and alsc the
inside of tle mess halls should be teken up with the Administration,

We cannot afford to neglect or 1gn0re such inno“tant matters as

Ll‘r OvVere ne "‘.n. -'..\rll..l.L_; (OV_._J.L".JH;J au lJ ;_n.b ti

- —— -

libid,

2™ s was done and the commlttee was notified by the Administration
that a report had been made,
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Mr, Izuml of Heart Mountain, who was not a member of the

Daihyo Sha stood up and remarked that at Heart Mountain $125 monthly
was given to the immediate family of the deceased in a case like

that .l

Ikeda then reported that T. Kashima, one of the farmers injured,

was in a very critical condition. The impressive silence which
fell, a characteristic so typical of Japanese froups under strong
emotional tension, is awkwardly but siegnificantly expressed by

L9

the translators: "Silenece reigned the nﬁet*nﬁ."e

This solemn moment was t'ollowed by a series of sugpestion on
the improvement of 1living condition and center facilities by
four different block representatives. One complained that orly
one ambulance was avallable for use in the center, another suc-

e sted that the publiec school (Japanese) shonld be opened, another
that the fire department be improved and thet the water supply be
inecreased, Hayashl of block 52 stated:

"I have been informed from an euthentic source that farm
products are being transported to the army and havy. 1 demaid that
this body take action and investigate fully, If fa-cts are esta-
blished, we should altogether refuse shipment to the outside."

now this suggestion was received by the body is not deducible
from the minutes, bubt it later hecame one of the significant points
taken up with the administration by the hegotiating Committee,
Fsycinologlcally it is a very interesting point since it betrays the
strong natlonalistic feeling willch many of the segregees, as
Japanese loyal to Japan, felt obliged to exhiblt. The idea of

producing food for the American armed forces was most repellent

1Ih13 was obviously an incorrect statement,

“Mr, Kashima nad already died, but his death had not yet been
announced by the administratinn,
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and, they feared, would get them into serious trouble when they

returned to Japan,
1
.“.) ‘\A a7y .
&uto tpld the writer that this part of the meeting was marked

by extreme confusion,

"Various Dainhyo Sha members were comparing Tule Lake with the
centera from which they cam. A man would get up and yell, 'In
Jerome food was like this.' Then mother guy would get up and
yell, 'In Topaz, housing was like this,'"

A good example of thls bombastic type of speech was recorded
in the minutes:

Auriharas; <+froperties owned by the colonists are tbeir assets,
which we should prevent loss by fire or theft by all means, There=-
fore, I recommend that the fire departnent of this Ganter be
improved, by providing more fire extinguishers, fire hose, and
truce ciks, Even though the population in Heart Mountnin is ]ess than
this Center, they have more and better fire equipmenta, For ins-
tance, Lhey have 25,000 feet of' hose and fire extinguisher in each
apartment, Hinee our bank accounts are frozen and we have no
other means of income than our meager salery, we should be pro-
vided with all these necessary squipment to prevent fire. 1 under-
atand that in some blocks, especiully Block 59, they have insuf-
ficient water supply and they are very much 1.‘-“1010i ed, I recom=-
mend that at least 200 gallons of water per person daily should

he allotted,

Takahashi eventuslly brought a stop to thiszs deluge of comparie
aons with other centers and moved that the body proceed with the

busineas to be discussed and decide what issues should be presented
}rﬁmu«lek

to the Administratlion. As expla by (Kato:\

¥ o\
v

"Mhis (the eomplaints) was not getting snywhere. We must
select a committee to negotiata with the Administration and close
the meeting. KXuratoml said we must set up different committees
because one committes cannot handle everything. He syggested
various committees such as fire and sanitation, etc."™

Karatoml proceded with the plan for forming the various
committees and their names were written on the blackboard by the

~

Vice=chairman Mori; Sanitation and Betterment of Living Condition

Committee, Farm Incident Settlement Committee, Hospital Committee,

5
K, Hankey, Notes, ibid., pP. e
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Mess Hall and Food Supply Committee, Education Committee, Negotiat-
ing or Central Committee.

From this point on both meeting and minutes become increas-
ingly chaotic. Much of this is due to a hopelessly confused trans-
lation. On checking this section with both Kuratomi and Kato it
was found that several of auratomits remarks were attributed to a
"voice fro? Eha floor"™ while incorrect spesches ere attributed ta
Kuratoml. Jkﬁtoﬁyggb English secretary of the Daihyo Sha, gave a

much more coharent description of this sectlion from his own notes.

"Mr. Wada asked about the (members of the hog snd chicken

farm) working or not working and sald that (in thls matter) they

were willing to co- operaue with the Delhyo Sha majorit Mr,
Kubota of block 17 als > stated, 'Yes, we should like to know
whether to work,'

“Mr. Kodama said, !'The hogs and pigs are 1iv1ng things 80
we sbould act according to common sense,' lr, Takahashl gave an
example of Topaz whore he cane from. He stated we snould 1ust
feed them and come home.

"After that the business of the hogs was forgotten®™ (but it
wasd brought up again later).

“ar gﬁtqno the ¢§rm chairman, stated that manyTwe?q unemployed
staﬁe;d§t;;;£';t1:1: m;‘;t /1.1pwoxz;. m:;LI‘:)lt;;.eL:x;t ;:;k;:moment;.;:s”‘t;ﬁeope‘(;;le
involved In the accldent and the accident itself, We should clarify
the problem firat."

Kuratoml then brought the body back to the pressing business
of arranging for the selection of the committees and also stressed
the mecesslty of forming a Central Committee to co-ordinate the
work of' the other committees. This body, the proposed Central
Commlttee, later cawme to be known as the Negotiating Committee
and carried on the negotlations with Mr. Dest and Mr. kyer. Kura-

mi suggested that the committees be selected on a ward basis,

l.6., each of the seven wards in camp would have one man on each

committee. The meubers of the Daihyo Sha were to meet in their




respective wards the following morning and each ward was to select
one man for each committee, thus forming s committes of seven men.l
It might be added that this was putting the responsibility of
selecting the committees on the shoulders of a very few men, since
each ward consisted of nine blocks on the average., In all falrness,
however, it should also be mentinned that these committees were
intended to be temporary.

The matter of feeding the hogs and chickens was now reintro-
duced. Although this is a minor matter, the argmment which appears
to be falthfully reproduced, is most enlightening on the ps yeholo=
gical bent of the men present at this meeting. The extreme radicals
argued for not feedlng them. The more sensible people, realizing
that the food would be talen from their own mouths, argued for
feeding them, stating "After all, they are living things,"

Alklyamas . . .Since the incldent occurred in the agricultursl
lepartment all the fLfarm workers stopped working. Doesn't that
creata some friction uith the farm workers if the hog and chicken

Tarm workers continue to w oric

curatomi: If certaln depertnent employees stop wori altogether 1t
will be regarded as a strike, The hogs and chickens should be
d, as we have not declded on a strike, (No reaction from the

floor.)

Wada: I wish to mé&ke this polnt clear for the workers of the hog
na chicken farm . Wwhether it is approved by this Committee to
continue to work.

Takata: Since the farr workers stoppea worxlnq, why should they
(hog and chicken farii workers) conbtinue to work., That's not
co-operation, to my miud.

Volcc from the floor: J3trike is not declared. Therefore, at
ast anlimals should e fed by colonlst workers, otherwise we will
be short on food stuff, especlally in meat and egg.

Kodama: I am sure that upon declaration of a general strike, all
e s PI’

Until

divisionas and section workers should stop work ai toget
f <

then, continue work,
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Lakata: We did not come to Tule Laeke to get Jobs. We came here
for the purpose of returning to Japan. The center management
should be taken care by the Army and the Administration, We have
no responsibility as far as management of the Center is concerned,
Therefore, why do we not support the farm workers and go into a
strike. i

Chair:; We will bring up the issue to the Administration just as
soon as the commlttee complete 1%s investigation and preparation,

Lkedas Oince the M, P,'s have . passes for no reasm
at all 1t means that we are prohibited from going out of the fence.

Why should we continue to work?

Chalr: We have absolute confidence that we will win in this

consultation with the Administration on tais 1ssue, However, we
should think about the time of this negotlation, If the hog farm
workers should strike at this time and prove to be a failure, we
have no exeuse to offer those injiured,

TJchida: We have never had chicken or pork on our tables and I

presume thet hogs and chickens do not belong to us, Why should
wo assume responsibllity for anythineg that doesn't belone to ust

The question of whether the hog and piz farm workers should
continue workins was eventually put to s 1t was decided to
continue feoding the animals - 58 to 7. In spite of the rash
sugzestions of the hotheads, the body as a whnle was averse %o

letting the pigs and chickens starve, probably because sueh zction

1 1
would make the "work stoppage

an unquestionable "atrike" and
becanse, though they had as yet received little or no chicken or
pork at mess, they dld not wish to cut themselves off permanently
from thia potential supply.

After the meetlng was adlourned someone sugeested that the
farm workers might think the strike had been postponed and might
return to work on Monday, vet. s Xuratomi stated that announce-

ments would be made in the mess halls by tke block managers to

arold this.

. Analysis of Meetinc and Character of Leaders

This meetingz was chaotic, rra?tic, disorpganized and emotional




in the following noteworthy statements

"At the first Daihyo Sha meeting I didn't like the atmosphere
myself. They were emotionally more than 100% for Japan. I doubted
very much (1f) the speakers were 100% or whether they were just
acting., The atmosphere at that time was such that there wasn't

any chancglto speak up if you disagreed. If anybody did speak

g se=-el
It is pot an exaggeration to state/that the qﬁmber of n

/ / /. /
present wiho were somewhat unbalancod”/frustrate%/ and who }eaned

toward megalomania or’ paranoia waa,éisproporti ately large.
The agcurate plcture 1s one of a/éody compo of a lagﬁér

/ /
proportion of exhlbitionistic,/somewhat unbélanced persons than
/ 4

1g normally fouhd.[ Wany of the Dalhyo Sha members were reasonable
people, Howavef, under the emotional stress and tension of this
period, normal persons would make statements and commit acts which
they would later regret, while unbalanced persons would go almost
berserk, a phenomenon for which the minutes supply much evidence.
Some of the members were undoubtedly on the alert for any
opportunity to distinguish themselves as public servants. A
conslderable number had participated in some type of negotiation
with the administration in their former centers., Having committed
themselves to returning to Japan, they had convinced themselves
that publicized "service for the people™ was a means of ingratiating
themselves with the Japanese government and perhaps receiving recog-
nition or reward when thelr exchange took place. The hold which
thls fantastic notion had on some of the would-be leaders was
astonishing. A very practical Japanesej\who(;;zﬁzo sympathy with
this type of individual, dramatized thls attitude by putting him-

self in his place and speaking in the first person:

1R, Hankey, Notes, Jan. 11, 1945, p. 1.
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"Since I'm going to Tule Lake, sooner or later I'm going to
Japan. 1In order to go to Japan, if I think about my future, I
may want something to go back with me. By entering into political
positions 1like that, I have a feeling that I've done something for
the people. That's a feather in my hat, That would be a certain
imaginary gift to the government of Japan., { have helped the
evacuees during the hardships of camp life."

Certalnly, not all the members of the Dailhyo Sha cherished

this notlion. Indisputably, a goodly percentage was infected with
1t. Much later in camp history this attitude was to lead to the
development of an organization so radical and spectacularly pro-
Japanesse as to make the Dalhyo Sha appear moderate by comparison.

Under the circumstances, it is surprising that Kuratoml
accomplished as ruch as he did.,

Xuratomi, the young chairman, was 20 years old. He was
probably selected for this position because of his excellent

command of English, his reputation as a leader in Jerome, and the

active part he Lad already taken in the formation of the Daihyo

Sha, Intelligent, reserved, dignified, and of scholarly appearance,
he possessed a great deal of self-confidence and determination,

He showed himself capable of handling the extremely difficult group
which selected him as well as could possibly be expected. He was,
however, devoted to Rev, Kal and greatly influenced by him., Due
chiefly to Kuratoml's efforts, the members were able to come to
several concrete decisions: to form committees to investigate

the various grievances and put them into shape to present them to
the Administration, to contact the Spanish Consul, and to continue
to feed the hogs and chickens,

ELECTION OF THh CENTRAL COMMITTEER - NUCLEUS OF THE NeGOTIATING
COMMITTEE

Very little information is available on how the Central

livid., Jan. 8, 1945, p. 2.
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Committee, the body which was later to assume extreme importance

as the Negotiating Committee, was selected., In one ward an inform-
ant stated that only six or seven people attended the meeting held
on the morning of October 18, There were no nominations. The

small group preseut discussed wuo would be their best ward repre-

\
ﬁ‘l sentative and he received the position. It 1s not unlikely that

\
A
C)\F'S ) the remainder of the men who were later to loom so high in adminis-

15:; o™ trative disapproval were selected in the same informal manner.,
|

\ et
d?
]

This nucleus of seven men was later augmented in an equally informl

our X"

0,2\ ‘\ manner, AS a member of the Central or Negotiating Committee admitted

&"ﬁ?" to[fhe writer: Lﬂqﬂdvﬂpu~¢“

t "The Negotliating vommittee was more or less given the power
to appoint any person as a member of the negotiating Committee. As
secretary, L was more or less on it,"

. Administrative actions

The administration knew nothing of this organization procedirg
within the colony and faced the loss of the greater part of the
mature farm crop which entailed a financial loss of .:f?if?fi)’
Three days passed during which the colonists made no attempt to
negotiate. On October 20, Mr, Best, the Froject Director, issued
a statement to be read by the Block Managers iu the mess halls,
pointing out tnat an immediate report had been sent to the United
States Employment Compensation Commission, that no official spokes-
man for the farm workers had come forward and that the entire farm
crop must be harvested. He added the ultimatum that if the farm’
workers were not interested enough in the settlement of the problem
to send official spokesman to the administration by 8:30 a.m.,

October 21, he would reguest harvesting by the Army and consequent

loss of the crops to the evacuees,

libid., wsov. 10, 1944, p. 4.




On the afternoon of vct. 15, an accident occurred in trans-
porting workers to the farm area. Many workers were 1injured.
Later one worker died from injuries received. lmmediately all
reports and notices necessary were made to the U. S. Employment
vompensatlion vommission for all the workers injured, The next
day no farm workers appeared and none have reported since. To
date no official spokesmen of the farm workers have come to
discuss the matter with the Administration although the adminis-
tration is ready and invites such discussion,

It 1s the administration's intentions to work with the
residents in adjusting problems and making Tule Lake as comfortable
a place to 1live as possible.

{jln the immedlate situation, the entire farm crop needs to be
harvested. <These are the vegetables that the residents of Tule
Lake will be eating this winter, The crop will not be lost. If
evacuees do not harvest it; the army will be asked to. This means
that the W.R.A., will have to ask the Army Quartermaster for vege-
tables for the evacuee's tables this winter. These requisitions
must be prepared for 50 days in advance of the period to be used,
We would not be in a very good position to expect our demands to
be filled if we fail to harvest the splendid erop now available.

The situation is the responsibility pure and simple of the
residents of Tule Lake Center. 'The administration is ready and
willing to discuss and work out on a fair basis any and all dif-
ficulties that may arise. If the farm workers are not interested
enough in the settlement of this problem to send official spokes-
man to the administration by 8:30 A.,M. October 21st, it will be
necessary for the WRA to request harvesting by the Army and conse-
quent loss of the crops to the evacuees,

/s/ R. R, Best

This statement was also printed in the Tulean Dispatch,

According to Dr. Opler, the Community Analyst, Mr. Best,
who had been Project Director for only six weeks (check) relied
to a great extent on the advice of Mr. Zimmer, the Assistant Project
Attorney; mr, schmidt, nead of Internal Security; and Mr. Cahn,
employed in the Finance Division., These men, according to Opler,
advised Mr. Best to be stern with the Japanese, be "tough with the
'pressure-boys'", and make no concessions. No member of the

Caucasian personnel, not even Dr, Opler had an accurate conception

1By "loss“ Mr. Best meant only the loss of food; the Japanese
obtained no money and received no compensation from the sale
of the crops.




. of the enormous tension in camp or the imminent danger of explosion,

Re sponse of Farm Workers

In response to this ultimatum the farm foremen met with
Mr., Kallam, Chief of the Agriculture Division on October 20.

T'he hand written minutes of this meeting have been preserved by
the Negotiating Commlittee and were shown to the writer. They are
signed by Mr, Kallam.

Mr, Kallam, Chief of Agriculture Division, addressed a
gathering of farm foreman representatives at 11 o'clock Wednesday
morning requesting that the Center farmer return to work and
harvest the mature crops in order to meet the requisition of the
mess divisions, "The interpreter for the farm group advised Mr.
Kallam that until the negotiations between the farm groups and
the W.R,A. officials has been completed the evacuee farmer will
not return to work,

The farmer's interpreter, stressed the fact that]lwe are not
striking, but for our own protective precautionary measure we
will not go to work untll the issue involved has been settled.

The interpreter, advised Mr. Kallam that any negotiating
between the farm crews and the W.R.A, representative must be
ironed out with the negotiating group representing them (the
farmers). The interpreter also emphasized the fact that the
shortage of vegetable for the mess halls is not the responsibility
of farmers, but that the full responsibility is with the W.R.A,

In this meeting the farm foremen make it quite clear that
they had handed over all negotiations regarding the work stoppage
to a "negotiating group" and that the matter was out of their
hands.

When this attempt at negotiating directly with the farmers
failed, mMr. Eest issued the following statement on October 21.
This announcement was also made through the block managers.l

TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN

In conformity with my statement as published in the Tulean
Dispatch of Oct. 21, 1 invite any representative committee to discuss
. any problem. Arrangements for such a meeting cam be made at my
office.

/s/ R. R. Best
1R. Hankey, Motes, Sept. 29, 1944, p. 1.
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It was on the strength of this announcement that the
wegotiating Committee asked for and received an appointment
with Mr, Best on October 26 when the first formal negotiations
took place,

Reasons for Delay in Negotiations

The delay on the part of the negotiators in contacting
Mr. Best requires some comment, ‘the work stoppage began on
October 15, and no one approached Mr. Best for s. Members
of the Negotiating Committee have explained the delay on the
grounds that Best had repeatedly made the statement that he would
not recognize any representatives. The real reason for this delay,

however is clear. The Daihyo Sha Kai meeting of October 17 indi-

cates that the body had undertsken a formidable and time consuming
amount of organization and investigation. A "loyal" evacuee
informant sent from Tule to Gila on November 8, explained the
situationg

“They were not prepared to make their demands, They were

trylng to figure out the proper approach, They wanted to ask
each block's opinion petting thelr channel work done."

———

WPLAN)JING BOARD FIAS_Q [

Oq'October 22 an attempt was made by mr. Takahashi to
obtru é ano ther organiz;tion, the almost extinect Flanning Board,
1nto/%he plecture. The Planning Board had sprved as issei advisory
bo%fd previous to segregation but had been isso;vad at the time
of/segregation. Takahashl first attempted to call the Planning
Board together on Oct%ber 15, the day of the farm accident, but

few persons attended that no meeting could be held. The

!
econd attempt of October 22 met with betten success, However,
|

| .

1
Report, bec. 24, 19&3, P. 12,




THE PLANNING BOARD FIASCO

Un Yectober 22 an attempt was made by a group of influential
Uld Tuleans prominent among whom were the leadlng men of the Co-
operative Lnterprises to obtrude another organlization, the almoat
extinct Planning EBoard, into the picture. Mr. Yamatani of Poston,
wno had obtained an lmportant post in the Co-op lmmediately upon
his arrival at Tule Lake supported this movement and lir, Takahashi,
the leader from Topaz took the leading part. Doth of these men

were also Malhyo Sha Kal membera, ihne Planning Board had served

as an 1ssel advisory board previous to segrecation bmt had been
dissolved at the time of segregation.

inose 01d Tuleans and their ambitious allies from other
conters had planned to obtain the political control of the camp
tirough thlis body. “hey had called a meeting on October 15, the
day of the farm accldent, but due probably to the great excitement
which thias event praducod, 8o few persons attended thiat no meeting
could be lield. The second atbempt of October 22 met with better
success. However, dus to the fact that so many of the former
members of the board had left Tule Lakw as non-segregees, the
memnbersnlp had been hastily augmented by very informal appointments
made since the farm accldent. 1t is reasonable to suppose that
in several of the blocks tnese appointments were made by the
Block Managers. Although the Flanning board was supposed to be

composed of lssel alone, a number of nisei appeared in this

speedlly assembled body.l Of the 50 representatives present, at

least 27 were already members of the Laihyo Sha. This, as explained

by Mr, Tsuda, was due to the fact that in many of the blocks, the

. 5
i{, Hankey, Notes, April 9, 1945, p. Se
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tranaferees nad no ldea of what the Flanning Board was and figured
that since they had already elected a representative to the Dalhyo
Sha, this man might as well represent them in both organizations,
Tsuda added signlficantly: "If the Flanning Board had worked

fast there would never have been any Lalhyo Sha, ">

1

fakahashl, who was elected temporary chairman pointed out
that the balhyo sSha was to be "temporary in neture" and that
"This Planning DBoard we are trying to set up will be the bac‘l:bone
of everything and wlll take over the further negotiation with the
administration after the Jalhyo sha has dissolved," His sugges-
tlon to reform the Planning Soard received almost no support.

Monber after member arose and spoke in favor of walting until the
Lailhyo sSha had settled the current mishap. When the guestion was
put to a vote 386 persons voted to dissolve the Planning Boa:;d
completely, 8 to discontinue it until the auto mishap was settled
and 8 to have 1t "in actual work now."

Talkeahashl apparently took this set back with good grace and
stated:

"Whether dissolved or not we will support and cooperate 100%
with the prosent iualhyo sha lal who have been elected by the people
of all the blocks. <

Nevertheless, he had not given up hope completely and attempted

to revive the 1ssue at tne next meoting of the Dalhyo Sha, Kuratomi

T
. ibid., April 18, 1945, p. 3.

™

“Minutes of Meeting of Planning Board, Oct. 22, 1943.




discouraged him quickly, and Tgkahashi's move to 1limit the 1life of

the Dalhyo Sha and channel camp control to another organization

falled.
THE CONTROVLRSY OVER THE PUBLIC FUNERAL

When Mr. Kashima's death was announced, two different groups
determined independently to give him a public funerel. The first
group was composed of his fellow workers, the farm group. The
second group was organized on a camp-wlde basis and was initisted

by a decislon on the part of the Daihyc Sha to hold a camp-wide

funeral., MNr, Kuratomi was made chalrman of jLhe Sogli-iin or Camp
) ( Mw

funeral Committee but both he and lir, ato &tated that the actual
work and preparation was done by Mr, Takahashi, who as a friend
of the Kashinma famnlly and a fellow resident of Topazwas made

head of the Jikko-iin, the Preparations Committee.

The farm group contacted Mr, Beat first, evidently without

"g\\\ the knowledge of the DLalhyo Sha commlttee headed by Mr, Takshashi.,

L > B [ 0 the
pergons pres ) T actaﬁt lowever, EEon the minutes

{
ol 1ng ater; - asked

Mr. Best's permission to hold the funeral on the outdoor stage in
the central firebreak, requested that he or his representative

appear at the funeral and that he send a letter of condolence to

the widow. Mpr., Best refusedf” lie explaintr his refusal $eKurabomt

as followsa:

"lhey didn't ask me, they demanded that I appear at the
funePal and speak. They demanded that I transmit a 1etter of
condolence to the widow. I do not recognize demands," “J&jhn

1Maat1ng of the rYroject Director and the Negotiating Committee,
Oct, 26, 1943. 3See p. 24,
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Mr, Black, Assistant Froject Director, admitted in the
presence of the writer that the administration had already prepared
a message of condolence and was about to send it when this farm
group made lts appearance and demanded it, After this courtesy
had been demanded 1t could not be granted, explained Black, because
this would be glving way to pressure,

Accordingly on October 21, Mr, Best sent the following letter

to Mr. Tautomu Tanigawa who had acted as interpretor for the farm

wor{ifs funeral committee:
I

'In reply to your statement that a public funeral will be
held at 2:00 P.M, on Saturday, October 23, at the outdoor stage
in the firebreak, you are hereby notified that permission is not
granted to hold such & public funeral.

"For your information, funerals will be held in the customery
locations as they have singe the opening of this Center," \

[

Lo N
According to Mr.éﬁzfo;¢a member of the Jikko-1in, Takahashi's

Preparations Committee, he and Takahashi approached Mr. Best with
Al A

no knowledge of the attempt made by the farm group. (Katd explained
thelr reasons for desiring a public funeral to Mr. Best:

"I told him that since he (Mr, Kashima) was riding on the
truck which was checked out of the Motor Pool, the Motor Pool
people would want to come. Since he was from Topaz, his Topaz
friends would want to come. Since he was a farmer, the farmers
would want to come and that it had been_decided at the meeting
(Daihyo Sha) to hold a public funeral."l :

sl oA

lir, Best told Takahashi and @ato $hat he had already refused

the use of the outdoor stage to the first group because they had
taken an arrogant demanding attitude. He added, however, that he
nmight allow Takahashi's group to use the High School Auditorium,
because "they had come in a nice way." The next day, when

Takahashi's committee returned for final permission, Mr, Best

1R, Hankey, Notes, Sept. 11, 1944, p. 4.
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stated that he would grant them neither the outdoor stage nor

the auditorium, Again he put his refusal in writing in a letter
( okd bfw

dated October 22 and addressed to‘%hto and Takahashi,

Gentlemen:

[: “In reply to your request to use the outdoor stage or the
high school auditorium for funeral purposes Saturday, October 23,
my final answer is that no public funeral will be allowed at this
particular time. Permission to use the outdoor stage or the high
school auditorium 1s not granted.

"No further discussion on this matter is necessary,"

Takahashl became very angry and decided to use the outdoor
stage regardless of the consequences,

The position of Mr, Kashima's widow in this matter is peculiar.

b Drved
According to to she at first approved of the public funeral and
felt honored at the respect being shown her husband. When approached
by the Administration, however, she is reported as having said that
she dld not wish a publiec funeral, A reasonable explanation given
by Kuratomi is that she was pleased by the honor shown her husband
but, in accordance with proper Japanese behavior, refused out of
modesty.l |
Qenpede ‘
to, ds a member of the Jikko-iln telegraphed Mr. Ernst,

the Froject VYirector of the Topaz center, informing him that
iir, Kashima had died. Mr. Ernst replied with a message of condol-

ence, an action which the evacuees immediately contrasted with the

attitude of Mr. Best, to the detriment of the latter.[j;he fact

that a publiec funeral was to be held was published in the Tulean
Dispateh, Donations of money were made by each block and numerous
gifts were made by individuals and groups.? It is sald that groups
1

ibid., Dec. 11, 1944, p. 3.
©ibid., Sept. 11, 1944, pp. 4-5.
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of young men from Jerome and Topaz cleaned up the fireoreak

in preparation for the funeral.l‘:]

Mr, Best's state of mind at this time has been described by
Ur, Opler as one of bewllderment and indecision. Uverly sensitive
to any request which might be construed as pressure, always inclined
to put off a decision whenever posaible, he was ill equipped to
handle this difficult situation. moreover, he undoubtedly feared
that a large public gathering at this time might have unfortunate
conse quences,

In any case Best's refusal was interpreted as a dliscourteous
and heartless act by many residents, Verbatim statements indicate
that many persons had identified themselves with the dead farmer
to a greater or less degree and the emotlional resentment aroused
by what appeared to be lack of consideration and respect to the

dead inevitably strengthened the position of the Daihyo Sha Kai,

It increased tenslon, the sense of pgroup persecution and hostility
to the administration. The administration also sank apprecilably
in public esteem by suffering Mr, Takahashi's successful deflance.
In this atmosphere of deliberate effort to use the death of
Mr, Kashima as a means of stirring up the people, one should not
lose sight of a far more significant emotional factor: that this
death affected the people profoundly and that even the most politi-
cally minded individuals were moved in part by a sincere desire
to expresa their respect to the dead man by showing him this final
honor,

L. LoXrolo
A niseipwho later resigned from the Daihyo Sha stated with

heartfelt sincerity:

libid., OQct., 12, 1944, pp. 2=3.




"They figured the people who got hurt represented the whole
center. 'The feeling was very bad when Best refused to let them
use the auditorium. %“hey knew they couldn't all get in, but they
wanted to glve him an honorable funeral, because he represented
Bll Of NBe ¢ » o

A very interesting attitude toward the funeral and the part

W N v
played by the Dailhyo Sha was glven by Mrs., ¥amagughl, a supporter

of the Daihyo Sha at this period: Thls young woman .8 no politician.

Yot she understood the objective of the pressure group clearly and
approved it. Undoubtedly many of the car p residents shared her
oplnion:

"Wouldn't i1t seem strange if they didn't have a public funeral
when they made such an issue of 1t such as the strike? That would
be the step any leader would take. . .If it was just the case of
the farm workers and Mr. Kashima, for that reason alone, such
troud e wouldn't be necessary. DBut I bglieve there was a very poad
reason behind what the Dainyo Sha did, "~

October 23, the day on which the rites were celebrated was an

unseaszonally cold and windy day. 'T'he mourners and spectators were

o
most uncomfortable. Mewsmend Kal, seeseffbetuntbedy-amed the Buddhlst

dignitaries were nearly blown off the platform. #r. Fujimoto,
who is given to analysis made the followling remark about the
funeral:

"The Funeral was on a cloudy, windy day. dJust the kind of a
day that would put the people in mind for a little radical propa-
ganda to be spread. Standling out in the cold, shivering with the
- corpse in front and the goon squad patrolling behind - it was just
right for propaganda. The goon squad was Jjust a radical unit -
young radicals from Jerome. The adnministration made a mistake
refusing the gymnasium to be used. Had they permitted the gym
to be used, they could have put down a ruling and limited the number
of people attendin: the funeral. Had that happened there would
have been a lot less people infected wigh the spirit of to heck
with the administration, and what not.,"

) o dpd
Fujimoto's reasoning 1s interesting. Evidently the regi-

mentad actlon of the "goon squad" did not incur public disapproval

2ibid., Vet. 12, 1944, p. 2.
Sibid., april, p. 3l.




but rather added forece to the antipathy felt for the administra-
tion at this extremely emotional time,

Several informants have stated that since the use of the
audltorium had been refused it was decided that no Caucaslians be
allowed to attend the funeral.l Developments indicate that some
decision of this kind was made and that it led to the first
definitely established act of physical violence on the part of
the colonists., Mr, Best wlshed to give the Japanese the impression
that a record was being taken,? He, therefore, sent the report's
officer, John b, Cook, to the funeral with orders to stay in his
car and act as if he were taking photographs, Opler, the Community
Analyst, who was one of the two Caucaslans present besides Cook,
saw a group of young men in the background. He thought they were
mourners who intended to walk behind the bler., These young men
formed themselves into a line between the warden's headquarters
and the platform, It was now apparent that they were a guard,
Cook disregarded Lest's purported orders, left the car and took
some pictures, The guards who objected to the taking of officilal
pletures descended upon him took his camera by force and tossed
him into the alr., Opler states decidedly that it was all over in
a moment, The camera and fllms were returned later., The identity

of the boys is unknown. 4t is probable that they were members

M LA
of the Topaz and Jerome strong arm groups, ln facﬁﬁvig%ﬁﬁ the

Topaz leader, told the wrlter he chased Cook three blocks, although
he (Kato) was wearing his best suit and overcost,

On the day of the funeral the Tulean Dispatch published the

report from the U.S5. smployment Compensation Commission, stating

lipia,, p. 21.
2
“See Opler's eye-witness account of this funeral, Notes, Feb., pp 20-21
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khaﬂu;-i
Ehat the amount of compensation to which i@ widow snd children

wore entitled was two-thirds of hlis monthly wage as of the date

of the accident, i.e., the widow would receive $10.66 or $9.00,

depending on the husband's classification;]

This sum, the representatives and many of the people thought
inadequate, An indication of the scorn which was manifested by
some of the colonists appears in the letter written by Fujimoto
on November 18, 1945:

"The office then published in the local paper that the
“Compensation Law" that governs government employees was applicable
in this instance, and that the wldow and the son of the before-
mentioned deceased was entitled to the grand sum of 60 per cent
of whatever he was making 1n a month, Namely, 60 per cent of the
kingly wage of 16 big dollars,”l

On the night of October 22, over half of the windows in the
Housing Office, which was located 1n the center, were broken,

The bank office was also damaged.2 The perpetrators of this
vandalism were not apprehended. The "strong-arm" groups may have
been responsible, although bitterness over the unsatisfactory
housing was so general that it is not impossible that a spontane-
ously organized gang of young men, exclited by the events of the

past week, committed the act on impulse, it is unlikely that

any of the leaders of the bLaihyo Sha were implicated,

Second Meeting of the Daihyo Sha - Qgtober 23

The svening of the day on which the funeral was held the

vaihyo Sha met again., This meeting is almost as confused as the

first. Reckless suggestions were hurled at the chairman, who
was forced from time to time to cut short bombastic speakers and

ask for the report of certain committees,

ISae Roport, Dec. 24, pp. 20, Z2l.
i
awﬁﬂ, Tule Lake Incident, Sequence of Events,
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Thne ftranslated minutes open with an announcement by Chairman
Kuratoml that e had received a written memorandum from the Project

Director giving the Dalhyo Sha official recognition, Kuratomi

informed the writer that this 1s an erroneous insertion and that
the statement could not have Deon made since he had not yet seen
Mr. Best., After roll was taken 1t was found that 15 block repre-
sentatives were absent. AJuratomi admonished the body for this

lack of interest. HHe then called for a report from the Sanitation
and Bstterment of Living Conditlion Committee. This report is not
included in the minutes. At this point the more vociferous members
could no longer contaln themselves, Hepresentative after repre=-
sentative arose and told the body "what they wanted."

Kawamura:; Colonists should De allowed to use electrical appliances
such a8 1ron and hotplates regardless of time or place at their
free will. 3pace for living quarters is insuifficient and the
administration should be informed of the condition,

Sasakl: 1 reqguest that cameras Le permitted within the Center,

Okamura; Colonists should be pald just as much as the mfnh in the
Army,

Yamanakas rrlvate enterprises are prevalling within the Center.
Sueh should be restricted. moOreover Co-op is handling too many
luxuries and food stuflf, which not only affects the economy of

the colonists but also encourages the WRA to be reluctant in thelr
distribution of food.

Surlharas Taere is no sewlng machine in this center. . .Adminls-
tration should be consulted to make such provisions without cost,

Nozawa: Tulean wispatch has reports of the Imperial Headquarters!
#ar news, whlch should be dissemlnated.

Uyeno: It is unfair for the wo-op to charge S¢ lor cashing Govern-
ment checks, such sihould be stopped.

oalto: Lumber for furnitures are furnished free to the colonists
in roston and 1t should be practiced here too,

fakeshita: Alteration of 1living quarters 1ls imperative, especially
in Block 59, Alaska and Mexico Areas,




KLuratoml finally stopped this tide of sugeestions and brought
the body back to a discussion of the farm problem. Chairman of
the Warehouse Committee, Kozaka read his notea. The fact that
pork was never served, the suspicion that the products of the
hog and chiclen farms were being disposed of without the knowledge
of the colonlsts was again brought up by Kuratomi, It was believed
that these products were being shipped out of the center to the
United States Army and Navy. As loyal Japanese the segregees
falt they should not be obliged to furnish food for u., S, armed
forces,

Tamanalka, the alternate representative from block 14 made
the followlng speech which received great applause:

"During my stay in Topsz, we received only the best farm
producta of Tule Lake, which means that despite the Yulesans
producing them, they are forced to use only second grade farm
products, which is utterly unfair., Just becauss we are disloyal
to anerica is no reason, We are 100k pro-Japenese, therefore, we
should be treated according to the International agreement, At
the time of the late nashima's funeral, the attitude assumed by

the Administration was called heartless policy."

Kuratoml then called for a discussion of the hospital problem

but the chairman oI’ the committee reported that the investigation

had been difficult. ‘“Yakahashl stated that the Uaucasian doctors
were too dlctatorial; they were meking the evacuee doctors! lives
miserable., “This too should be taken up with the Administration,
Kazama, who appears to be highly emotional added:

"What do we care about the evacuee doctors! Their status
of whether loyal or disloyal should be cleared., If there are

loyal evacuee doctors, we should nothave such doctors, even in
case of sickness, I prefer death rather than be cared for by

loyal doctors. Uaucasian doctors are even better." (The floor
was in turmoil.)

Kal quieted the outburst by saying:
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"Kazama's and Takahashi's opinions are evidence of their
mutual love for Japan, which 1 must commend. lowever, gach
doctor's status should be decided by his own will and Dr, Hashiba
should be retained,"
Takalinshi went on tu urge the retention of all evacuee
doctors, fie was interrupted by hecklers and Kazama agaln raised
his volce:
"Due to our obligation toward the une and unly (the Emperor)..."

Kal Interrupted and rebuksd hims

"You have no right to hinder a representative who has a voice
in the body. I advise that you refrain from such an act hereafter."

WRA's refusal to allow lalhyo Sha members to investigate the

food situation and the suspiclon that graft was going on among
the WRA offlclals was reported. Ikeda stated:

"Cost of our dally food is only amounting to 18 to 20 centa.
it should be 1neresased to 44¢ as stipulated in the WRA regulation.,"

Uyeda added:

"Daily allotment of food should be 45¢ and the quality should
be improved."

Nakahlro then related his experience as menu maker in ‘Topaz,

Kuratomi brougnt the meeting into line again by calling for the

report of the hducation Committee. This report 1is not included

in the minutes., 'Isuchlya remarked:

"3ince we have come here to be repatriated to Japan I do not
find the necessity of learning bnglish."

Kuratoml differed:

"A child of five or six could get by without public school
education, but high school students should attend public school
because of lack ol diversified courses offered in Japanese School.
Bkducatlonal problems have been entrusted to educators so we have
nothing to worry about,"

Near the close of the meeting lakahashl recommendsd that the
Planning Board be resurrected and recorganized despite the decision

to dlssolve made on the previous night., HKuratomi disregarded this




proposal. He pointed out later to the writer that Taksghashi's
proposal was contrary to the wlshes of the Flanning Board members,
which, as far as the minutes show, was true,

The difficulties of the Food Committee were dealt with by

contacting Mr. Suglmoto who had some reputation for having experi-

ence at investigating meas conditions in Yoston, sugimoto was

not a member of the Daihyo Sha but was approached by Mr, Salto,

Daihyo Sha Food Comnittee Chairman, and asked to take over the

chalrnmanship of the food committee., Sugimoto made the following
interesting statement to the writer:

"What I wanted to find out was how bad it was, actually,
because comparlsons are pretty difficult unless you can show it
in figures.

"I went ahead and investigated the actual recention of the
food material in the center from the Army quartermaster and the
actual consumptlion of that food by the residents of the camp
during the montn of September, 1043, U8y doing that 1 thought
I might be able to throw some light. Uf course, what 1 investi-
gated, the deogree of correctness of that report is not known to
me as yet. But the FBI, they hed an acecountant wlth them (in
their mld-sovember investigation) and he went over my report and
worked 1t over item by item using the same records I used. 8o
the only person who knows how true that report is he.

“"At that time I was anticipating difficulties I might have
to face and the possibllity that the report might be confiscated.
50 I had my sister make 20 copies and scattered the report to my
friends to keep it for me,

Yo get the necessary data to make this report, certain young
mon lifted the desired books from the mess offices. According
“ﬂr-"-_‘ A e
to Kato, fthese books are 3till in the colony but were brought
forth from hiding to show to the FBI.

CCTOHLR 26 - MulTING OF THE PROJECT UIRLCTOR AND THL NEGOTIATING
COMEITTuE

Flve days after Mr, DBest had issued an announcement inviting
any representative committee to discuss any problem with him, the

Central Committee of the Laihyo Sha XKail telsphoned Mr. Best and
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asked that they be granted an interview with him,
Ten Japanese, Hoshiko, Hayashi, Kuratomi, Yamamoto, Kobayashi,
W\ o\ g ;
‘Rato;JTakeda, Toshida, Mori, and Kal were present. Messrs. Zimmer
and Black, the Assistant Project Directors were present in addi-
tion to Mr, Best. The committee had prepared an agenda of 1lssues
based on the sugmestions made at the two meetings of the Representa-
tive Body and the reports of the varionsa eommittees. To sonsolidate
their position as leaders, it was lmperative that these men on the
Nemotiating Committee take some tangible concessions from the
administration back to the people.

The minutes of this meeting may have been censored by the WRA,
Bven so they reveal clearly the points brought up by the Negotiat-
ing Committee, the relative stress on each point, and the attitude
of the Adminlstration and the Committee.

Mr, Best's attitude and state of mind before beginning this
conference should be taken into consideration. There 1a some
avidence that he had already telegraphed the ProjJect Directors
of other centers on October 24th, asking for Japanese volunteers

to harvest the crops.t He was under pressure from Washington to

gee that the erop, which was valued at several hundred thousands

of dollars, was not wasted.

Mr. Beast had met Mr. fluratomi once before under inauspicious
cirecumstances. 9n Qctober lst, shortly after Kuratomi's arrival
from Jerome, Dr. Melton, the Assistant Froject Director of Jerome
who had accompanied the transferees as escort, arranged an inter-
view between Mr, Best and a group of prominent Jerome transferees.
Kuratomi and Kai were present., According to Kuratomi, Mr. Best's

1

iRA, Tule Lake Incident, sSequence of Events,




first remark was, "I don't recognize any representative body.
I'm not going to be pressured by anybody. I'm not going to meet
any demands from anybody at any time." Thia remark was made
desplte the fact that the Jeromites had not been introduced as

a body of representatives. Kuratoml stated:

"Dr. Mglton was surprised and I thinlt he was sorry that he
had suggested our meeting with Mr, Best, One of the boys was so
angry he walked out in the middle of the meeting."l (This was
probably Reverend Kai,)

As a result of this interview Kuratomi already disliked
Mr. Besat cordially. Well educated, suave, speaking far better
kngllisn than Mr, Best, his scorn is clearly mirrored in many of
his remarks. He was and still 1s abanlutely convinced of the
justice of the cause he represented.

"I don't think I did wrong and I think I've been fair with
the people. . . .From the very beginning I've maintained that
anything we have done wasn't any too radical or against our
Constitutional rights, As Chairman of the Committee I conducted
the Job in a correct manner., 4And the Jjob was difficult because
the people didn't understand,"?

Nervous, gentle spoken, full of intellectual arrogance,
Kuratomi 1s far removed from the blustering type of "agitator"
whose bombastic remarks enliven the minutes of the Daihyo Sha.
With the advice of Reverend Xai, whom he respected to the point
of devotion, and other older men, he had undoubtedly selected the
points to be presented to ir, Best with great care and had come
prepared to get what concessions he could, He stated frankly
to the wrilterg

"Our bigmest cause was to stralghten out the farm accident.
Although that was Jjust an excuse, because there wers so many things
in camp that needed to be improved. . . .This talk with Mr, Best

was to be the first of a serles of reports (on the condition of
the colony)."d

1z, Hankey, Notes, Sept. 18, 1944, p. 1,
2ibid., pp. 8, 10.
SIbid., 4pril 9, 1945, p. 3.
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This meeting was far more like a contest between two adver-
saries than like n conference. To begin with Mr, Best holding
to hls attitude of October lst, refused to recognize the Negotiat-
ing Committec as representatives of the Tule Lake residents.
furatomi then implied that some of the questions to be asked might
be above Best's authority and asked that in such cases they be
referred to Washington, After these opening gambita the meeting
rapidly developed into a guarrel over Best's supposedly inhumen
attitude in regard to the funeral, Both sides hurled accusations
freely, A senmblance of préwmriety was restored while discussing
the request that the evacuees at Tule lLake wished to ralse only
enough food for thelir own consumption, wmr, Best, although he nhad
not "recosnized™ the committee, accepted this request on its face
value and in the presence of the Committee canceled a telegram to

(G1ila ordering beef, "We will have to wait 50 days before we get

any." fccording %o Opler, this gesture was = Pluff; Best merely

pretended to cancel the telegran,
¥rom thls point on, matters preceeded with relative smoothness,
However, near the end of the meeting Kuratomi remarked that in the

event of a strike he imagined that the administration would see

that some quleck solution was made, pest retorted: "A strike isn't
the way to deal with me." That the Negotiating vommittees was
already placing reliance on an appeal above mr, Best was shown not
only by the remark made early in the meeting but also near the

and when auratoml asked if it would be necessary to refer some of
the gquestlons to Mr. Myer. Best agreed that it would be necessary
and added that he would like Myer to confer with the committee

wnen he arrived on the project within a few days.
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Neither slde was acting entirely above board. The Negotliating

Commlittee retalned their trump card to lay before Director Myer:

-~

the "proof" of graft among the Caucasian personnel, Mr, Best

.1

stated at the beginning of the meeting that he did not "recognize"

the Committee, yet sald at the end:

"Thers 1s no reason why we can't come to an understanding.
We can lay our problems r%ght here on the table, L. am here to
help you, 41 am not here for any other purpose. I want to spend
90 percent of my time with you and your committee. YThat 1s
what I am here for.....1 don't think there is a problem that
we can't solve 1f we get together.....We can get right down to

the bottom of these things. Come up ugain."ij

The Negotiating Committee based their requests on four major
toples: (1) the questlon of the status of the evacuees under
International law under which they included a request for re-
segregation; (2) the settlement of the farm incldent which included
many minor polnts; (3) a request for community government; (4) a
multitude of requests for the betterment of colony living conditions,
dome of the points were brought up as requests for clarification,
others as requests springing from the desires of the colonists and
one request for an investigation as to why the food was so poor
and what was happening to the products of the hog and chicken farms,

It will be interesting to consider these points one by one
and the Project Director's decision on each, The points will then
be compared with the conalderable number of statements made by

Japanese not clossly connected with the lailhyo Sha Kal, and an

attempt made to show how closely the points brought up by the
Negotiating Committee paralleled the desires of <the ordinary colonist
at this time.

status of MHeslidents under international Law - Further Segregation

This 13 a major point which stands by itself., Kuratoml stated
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that the residents wished to know their status under International
Law. Mpr, Best referred him to the Department of Justice, Mr. Myer,
and the 3panish uvonsul, Supplementary to thls, Kuratomi stated
that the residents strongly desired resegregation., Mr, Best
agreed that this would be a good 1dea,

status under International Law had long been a matter of
aome concern to the evacuees, Its clarification, however, had
1ittle significance in the mnovember crisis., Hemoval of the
"fence-sitters” on the other hand, was an urgent issue, as has
been shown by the attitudes qwatéd grnviously.l
Farm dccldent

Kuratomi opened the discussion of thiz issue with a demand
on the part of the colonists that WRA announce that it would take
full responsibility "in regard to these accldents" and express
regret concerning them., The people, he added, wished to know
what steps had been taken toward compensation, INr, Best answered

all forms of the united Ststes smployess' Compensation had

completed and transmitted to that Commlssion,

Kuratoml then bluntly asked the reason for the i1nhuman attitude

of the Administration in regard to the funeral, Beat denled he.had
tnhuman tendenclas, Kuratom!i countered with the fact that he had
refused to go or send a representative to the funeral and give a
spoasch of condolence. The discussion rapldly disinteerated into

a quarrel in which Mr, Best contended that he had been ordered to
2o to the funeral and that he would never accede to demands,
Kuratomi denied that any demand had been made., DIest then stated
that the people had been forced to go to the funeral. Kuratomi

denied this also.

lsee pp, 7-11 of “"rre-incident Attitudes."”
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This undignified squabbling indulged in by both men gained
Kuratomi nothing and evoked from Mr. Best only the extreme stub-
bornness with which he customarily reacted when faced by "pressure”
By stressing Mr. bBest's inhumanity, Kuratomi was perhaps attempting
to relate Mr. Best's inconsiderateness concerning the public funeral
with the violence shown the photographer. ie succeeded only,
however, in irritating Mr. Best almost to the point of incoherency.
Best stated:

"You or none else are going to tell me what to do. . .We will
do this without putting me on the spot, I am not golng to be put
on the gpot and you are not goling to come here and teil me what to
B0 ¢ a0
Farm scroage

huratomi stated that it was the desire of the people that they
farm no more acreage than was necessary for the needs of the colony.
Ihls was a falrly strong camp sentiment., DBest inquired if this
meant that they wanted no more bLeof from Glla., Kuratoml agreed,
Lest, 1in the presence of the committee, canceled a shipment orf
beef expected from Glla, stating that 50 days musi elapse before
any beef could Ye procured through the army Quartermaster. kuratomi,
apparently unperturbed, asked for a farm committee; Best stated
that he was wholeheartedly in favor of the formation of such a
body. e also assured the Commlttee that food had never been sent

to the army or Navy.

fublic Schools and Flag Raising Ceremony

Un request dr. Black explained the proposed plan for the
public schools and 1ln answer to a direct question, stated that there
would De no flag ralsing ceremony and that attendance would not
be compulsory. On this matter Kuratoml told the writer that

Reverend Kai believed that education in English was beneficial to




the children., ©Some of the camp residents, however, were concerned
over the possibility that thelr children might be forced to submit
to compulsory indoctrimation in Americanism, When questioned by
the writer as to the significance of the flag raising ceremony,
Kuratomi explained that it was motivated by a desire to see that
no disrespect be shown to the American flag. PFrevicus to this
rumors had seeped out of camp that the Americen flag ralsed inside
the camp had been torn down, Kuratoml denied thls, explaining to
the writer:

"The American flag in the center was brought down by one of
the boy scouts, He felt that the flag of any nation should command
that much respect., He feared that some rude boys would get hold

of 1t and trample on 1t, He took it down., _There was a rumor,
however, that somebody might tear it down."l

Kuratoml added that he knew where the flag was and that it

was in a safe place.

Community Covernment

This was another major lssue as far as the Negotiating Commltt ee
was concerned. Kuratoml stated that the people wanted a eenter
organization to govern and take care of the center residents and
negotiate with the Adminlistration., The orgenization of this body
was to be left entirely to the center residents. Best agreed
that he too desired this, but that it rmist be a completely repre-
sentative body. :rur. Black made it guite clear that there could
~not be such a thing as self-government, and asked that the present
committee aserve as an advisory committee to the Administration.
Kuratoml again used the tern "central governing body" and was
corrected by Black., ruratomi then stated the center desired that

‘Block Managers be put under the supervision of this proposed tentral

1a, Hankey, Motes, ee, 11, 1




Committen, It was exDlained that under WRA regulations this
could not be done.

it i1s doubtful if the dosires for a “central organization®
was a mabtior of primary interest to the evacuees as a whole at
this time. <Thls point probably reflects the interests of the
leaders, fhen quostioned by the writer as to why Eha cormmlittee
wished to bring the Block Managers under the Uentral Uommittee,
Ruratomi explained that in this mann the | k Managors could
be kept 1n thelr proper place as absolutely unpolitical figure-
heads, go-betweens between the Administration and the people.

"We intended to keep them as filsureheads, . .if something
came up that the Central Committee felt it was not their (block
managers) duty, the Uentral Committes could tell them that the
problem should be under the Central CGommittes,"l

This matter appears to be a political maneuvar to keep the
block managers out of the political pilcture. "he Negotiating
Committee was talking no chances in permlitting the development of
a rival organization, Mr, Adachi, an o0ld ‘rulean who held a promi-
nent position among the block managera at this tine, mave the
writer his frank opinion of this maneuver:

"I think they wanted to control the bloek managers at that
time, We told them we didn't want anything to do with that. We

weres willing %o co-operate in the work and helg them for the benefit
of the people, but we wanted to stay neutral . "?

Food Question

Kuratomi stated that the residents doubted that they were
gsetting their full share of poultry and eggs from the farn.
immer explained that since June 22 no hogs had been slaughtered
and that all the proceeds from the hog and poultry farms were goirg

to mess management. bBest intimated that if the workers at these

2 ]
‘aibidzo’ Jan, t}, 1&":‘&), l)o 4.
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farms should stop working he would have to sell thease products
off the project. Kuratomi then asked for an investigation into
mess hall distribution. Best referred him to the mess department.,
Later in the meeting Kuratomi complained that the food was
very poor, that the children were not getting sufficient milk and
that eggs were never served. Best, replied that the lack of milk
was probably the fault of Mess Management, that 8278 ware on the
menu every day, and suggested the employment of a Japanese head

gsteward under lir, reck,

Ia view of the tremendous publle resentment over poor food,

the rumors prevalent among evacuees and Uaucasians that food was
oelng sold off the project, elther to the Army and Navy or to the
black market, thls referring of the food question to the mess
department on the part of Mr, Best cannot be considered wise. His
answering the cliarge that eggs are never served by saying that they
are on Lhe menu shows ignorance of Mess conditions, Heliable evacuee
informants repmatedly state that what is put on the menu and what

ls served are btwo different things. These questions on food were
vital., By passing them off lightly a valusable opportunity to
decrease the 11l will of the colonists was disregarded.

Internal Jsecurity

“r. Best brought up this subject himself, a reflection of
hls own concern over the ungatisfactory state of the Japanese
~nternal decurity after segregation. according to huratomi, the
Japanese force was supposed to consist of 140 members and it had
been reduced by segregation to 78, a fraction over half.l After
segregation, the position of warden had becowse increasingly

J

ibid., Mdec., 26, 1944, p. 2.




unpopular and anyone who accepted it was in danger of belng regarded
as an inu (dog), or stool-pigeon, & person wllling to work for the
administration and against hls own ;_\cople.l The reduction of the
Japanese police force to half-its necessary strength was a matter
of great concern to lir. Dest since the camp could not possibly be

-

adequately policed without Lthe assiatance of the evacuces.

Latrine Facilitles

‘uratoml asked for the improvement of latrine facilities.
Beat explained the difficultlos of improving these and remarked
that the next housling adjustment would relieve the situation,
Kuratoml complalned thiat the hot and cold water could not be
mized and Best stated that he wanted to ilmprove all such condl-
tions.

Lots around barracikas - Porches

Best stated that 1f proper plans were made and Washlngton's
approval 1s gained, porches could probably be bullt for about
¥20,000, This statement was Interpreted by the commlittec as a
promisc from ar, Lest that their porches would be buillt, and was
publlecized as such When the porchies were not bullt thls was
regarded a3 a breach of falth by the Japanese.

dail Delivery

Kuratomi stated that the residents felt that mall should be
delivered to each unlt, and not to the block managers. bBest
said he would try to work 1t out.

B Patienta released in center

Kuratomi stated that tuberculosis patlients were being sent to

lFI“Om an interview with H. Tsuda, Head of the Japanese Internal
Security, R. Hankey, Notes, Jan., 11, 1945, pp. 1, 5.
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the blocks. These should be segregated and sent back home, (Add
exvlanation from X,) bBest sald this should be referred to the
medical staff.

Inadeguate preparation to recelve segregees

Kuratomi asked who was responsible for the inadequate prepara-
tion for the segregees entering Tule, Best replied that he must
blame the Congreas of the United States,

Disappearance of WHA material

luratomi stated thhat 1n the past the disappearance of articles
such as saws, hammers, and axes had been blamed on evacueses, IL1f

this should happen in Yule, he asked that Lhe administration investi-

gate thoroughly Dbefore they make an accusation, peat assured him

that an inveatlgation would be held.
Swmnmary

fneviewing tho answers givon by Mr, best it appears that the
Negotlating Committee had reason to feel optimistic over the
weneral results of thls meeling. LI. Sest agreed wholsheartedly
on the matter of cultivating farm acreage only for Lhe needs oi' the
colony and was almost enthuslastic over the formation of a farm
committee and a representative body frow the coclony, stating,
however, that this could not be a self-governing body. The
begotiating Committee was asked to serve in an sdvisory capacity
to the administration in forming this body. Best stated that he
"would do what he could" in the matter of porches, latrines and
the mail, and agreed that segregution "would be a good idea.”
Une request, on a minimum age or truck drivers, was shown to be
already in effect. 4he Committee was assured that attendance at

the samerican schools would not be compulsory. 7Two questions were




referred to a higher authority and the Uongress of the united
States was conveniently blamed for the inconveniences of segre=-
gation, The impossibllity of placing block managers under the
supervision of the proposed Hepresentative Eody was adequately
explained. 1he complalnts about the mese, hcwever, were pushed
aside with a vague suggestion that the head of the liess Division
be consulted., 7Thls muddled mess situation was (aside from the
emotional heoetility engendered by ‘the farrer's deatn) the most
important 1ssus brought up by the Committee. Sugimoto's food
commlttee wae buslly gathering evidence of graft to lay before

Ulrector Myer.

¢!

Colonists' Views on Demands of Negotlating Committee

[}udginq by evacuees' statemonts &ﬂﬂ‘&ﬂﬂ%ﬁfﬂ-@f:>his period

the points brought up by the megotliating Committee were a fairly
accurate mirror of public sentiment, Only on the matter of the

[

creatlon of & "permanent governing body" can the committee be

accused of Jumping shead of the wishes of the people. This does

not mean that the people were agalnat the formation of such a

body but that there ls no evlidence that the people considered

it a crylng need or desired to make it one of the salient items
requested of Mr. Dest, With this one exceptlon it can be said

that every lasue put before kr, Best at this October 26 meeting

had an appreciable amount of public support; this does not

imply, however, that support of each point was camp-wide. Accord-
ing to Informant's statements, the institution of proper precautions
to prevent tho recurrence of accidents, improvement of general

living conditions and the dlsmissal of uUr, Pedicord were the most

emphatic deslires of the people.
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hﬁi&-ﬁﬂ—&ﬁ#&ﬁbaﬂ%1 Kuratoml explained teo—the—wpeitor that the

committee DLelleved at thls time that their chief efforts should
be directed to the attempt to stralghten out the farm accldent,
They intended to bring up the matter of Lr, fedicord later. The
report of the hospital committee was not yet complete.t lMoreover,
after this October 26th meeting, additional pressure was put on

Negotiating Committee by the Tapanese dockors and nurses at

hospltal to get rid of Pedicord,

3ome idea of what demands the people thought most important

galned from the Tollowingz statements made by indlviduals

; J astanba i

connected with the Lalhyo 3ha, irom Mr. PMaiimoto:
J J

"The committee decided to request that (1) the motor depot
and placement office set certaln age limits tn people who drive
trucks and other types of vehilcles within the centnr. (2) That
the food in camp be improved., (3) That certain officlals of
the WRA who were known to have been chiseling be dicharaed
(4) That Dr, Fedicord, the Chief Medical Offi cer, In view of
his anti-Japanese views and ﬁct*ona, be d¢qchuﬂﬂﬂd That he
was inconpetent and neglisent of his duties. mhl‘ because of
his refusal to grant werniaq .on for transfusions to two or
three patients in the past (a Japanase Aoctor had recormended
transfusions) these patients all died, . ., . .2

"They asked for porches for all the apartments. WRA had
promised lumber for all the porches. It was never supplied.
That's where that request came in. We were promised., That
ineffleciency as far as I'm concerned,

"The only thing that everybody in camp absolutely endorsed
was the dismissal of Dr, Pedicord, and more care in placement
of drivers, and an improvement of food, and I think, the request
for an i.Veutigation of grafting. UT&ft;nF started the whole
works,"

‘R, Hankey, Notes, april 9, 1945, p, 3.
3Rogart ieoc., 24, p. 21.
SNotes, Feb, pp. 13, 14.




From an old Tulean nisel:

"I don't w how much they demm ded T the widow,and
children . . vut the peeple figured ¥f (60% of monthly
wage) was no enough + < + Then at the same time ihey made
demands fop” porches uuq,igr the latr: to be betiér taken
care of d other things., They alsg asked foregr. Pedicord

Ken out ol tie hospital. T1here were sevVeral other
requests they threw in with the farmer's case."l

The policy of the Negotlating Committee at this meeting
has never been criticized by the evacuees. The general attitude
at this time was that these men had been put up as representatives;
whatever thejy chose to do "for the beneflt of the people" was all

rtqht::}

MiRe HLST 'MhRMINATED FARM WORKLRS -~ CALLS LN Luiﬂu" LVACUEES

T0 BiisAK a.'ﬁ_g"..__.”u'iilin’lu "

The day following this meeting, iir, Best terminated the

n

farmers as of VUcgtober 19, This was a most disecrediting situation
for the Negotlating Commlttee, since the farmeirs had put complete
confidence in thewm and placed the handling of the incident entirely
in their hands. Mr., Dest also telemraphed Charles F. Ernst,

froject Director at the Topaz Center and W, Wade Hhead of Poston,

requesting the recrultment of farm workers to harvest the crops

) 2 ; biatg . - o .
at Tule vake.® daving talen this action he left the project for

San Francisco, where, 1t is said, he was to confer with Dillon Myer .

The termlinatlion notice was worded as follows:

-

lReport, ee. 24,

2The To“a” Times (Oct. ?ﬂ, 1943) containa an interesting statement
by lr, &rnst: "In discussing the jJob I have been asked to find out
1P there i3 any trouble 1like a “strike" at Tule Lake. Last nightI
phoned to Tule Lake and recelved this information. 'There is no
"strike™ or labor trouble at tule Lake.'! The residents of Tule Lake
have had meetings with thelr project director and have said they did
not feel they should harvest crops that were geoing to other centers."
In Poston, the existence of the strike was not officially annouced
until Oect. 31 (Poston Chronicle). The workers wers offered 907 to ¥l
an hour, "X" states that the telegram of Oct. 27 did not state that
a strike was In progress but did say that tha Tule Lake people had

refused to hurvest the crop for shipment to the "10{31 people” in
other centers. X's Sociological Journal, Oct. 27 943, pp. 2, 10.




PARM WRKERS NOTIG

Due to fallure of Farm Workers to report for work they have
been terminated as of October 19. In order to get the payroll
out on time, arrangements have been made for these workers to
return their badges to the Timekeeper's Uffice at 717, from now
until noon of Saturday.

Fallure %o return the badges will automatically bring a
charge of 50¢ to all Farm Workers who have not turned in their
badges at tnhis time, and ths payroll wilill be delayed.

vignatures R. H, Best

‘hls actlon was a staggering blow to the llegotlating Committee
and to the strlklng farmera. 'the Negoilating Cormlttee had assumed
the full vurden of responsibllity of managing the strike and gein-

the concesslons deslred from the Adminlstration and had had
a meeting with Kr, Besat at which they had appeured to have con=-
slderabls advantage. The day alter the meeting the farmers, who
wore relying on them, were termlnated, and "loyal evacuees" were
called for who would break the strike which was thelr major if
not their only bLargaining polnt. <The anger of the committee and
the poople at what they called "this double-cross" 1s ecasy to
apprecliate. The altuatlion 1s betrayed clearly in the following
statement made by Auratoml:

"Naturally, after we had had the meeting wlth kr. Best we
nade roporta to the representatives and to the farm group in
partlcular, 'That such a atatement came out the followlng day
threw suspiclon on Administrative slncerity. (and put the
Negotlating Committee in a very bad light. K. H.,) Our immedi-
ate feeling was a distrust of Mr, Best.,"

"Distrust™ 13 a nild word to use %o describe the sentiments

of the Regotlatlng Comnlttee alter thilias action by Mr. Best.

MELTING OF FAR COMMITTEL AND ASSISTANF PROJLCT DIRECTOR ZIMMER

Faced now with the loss of thelr Jobs and the complete frus-

tratlion of thelr alms, the lfarmers sent a committee to diseuss the

—— e ——— e e e . e ——

1R, Hankey, Notes, Sept. 18, 1044, n. 6.
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matter with Mr. Zimmer on October 29. They told Mr, Zimmer that
they had glven Mr, Kallum, the farm supervisor, the “"definite
interpretation" that their stoppage of work was not to be consi-
dered a “"strike", and since they had not gone on a strike they
d14 not see why they ahould be terminated. %They pointed out that
there was so much contrast between the report the Negotiating
Committee had brought back to them from its Oectober 26 conference
with Mr, Best and the action of termination that they "were very
mich dlsappointed about this action." They regquested that the
adminlstration retract the termination by noon of the following
day, threatening, "if thls problem cannot be settled, concerning
the graveness of the situation, we will agaln have to turn the
matter into the peoples' hands,” 1In apite of the boldness of this
threat, the farmers' great desire to keep their jobs is clearly
indicated by the almost pathetic statements "It's possible that
all of us should return to work, We don't believe any of us would
have any objection to returning to work,"l

1he farmers gained nothing at all from this meeting, for the
next day mr. Zimmer released the following statements:

Due to Administrative Instruection 27, Revised, dated
August 4, 1945, it 1s imposszible for me to reverse the decision
regarding the turning in of badges which was received by the
former farm workers on October 28, 1943.
ARRLVAL OF JAPANESE TO HARVEST CROPS -~ JAOVAL, OF FOOD FOR THEIR

USk FROM PROJECT WARLUQUSES

The first contingent of "strike-breaking" farm workers arrived
in Tule Lalke Octeober 30. The residents had no doubt been informed

of thelir coming through letters from other centers, dtatements

lfrom a translation of these minutes glven orally to the writer
by MNr. Kuratomi. 1ibid., Dec. 26, 1944, p. 2.




of informants indicate that the people never for a moment blamed
the Negotliating Comnittee for thls blow. All resentment, and
resentment now rose to phenominal helghts, was heaped upon
"double-crossing” Mr, Best and the "double-crossing loyal Japanese"
who, being Japanese, "should have known better." So great was
thls resentment that when, on October 31, Japanese Motor Pool
employees were ordered to service trucks to transport the "loyal"
farmers from Klamath Falls to the farm, they refused, zlving as
excuse that they had received no requisition for the trucks. The
trucks were eventually taken out by Caucasians, who, 1t 1s saild,

were followed by obscene remarika from the Japanese as they drove

1

away. , &
[ [,V &N
A member of the Dalhyo Sha salds

"The harvesters who came in were Japanese, That's what you
call the double cross., it was Jjust lilke an anti-strike, Best
stopped the work but didn't give them a chance to consider it,
He gave the people no notics of the fact that he was going to
bring in the farm workers" . . . . if the Administration had
put out officially that they couldn't do things (at the begin-
ning of the trouble) 1 don't think the people woulg have got so

angry. But they didn't tell the people anything,"<

AP TP :
My, Fujimoto, who relocated from Tule in September, 1944 sald:

"Frovious to all this, mr, Best gave word that any action
he decided to take to harvest the erops in the fields would
first be made public to the evacueea and the evacuee Tarmers.
However, with no notification whatever he had brought in about
20 or 100 "yes-yea" Japanese to take over tho harvesting. . . 1
thought it was kind of a dirty trick, putting it mildly,%®

A s sAard
Mrs. Yamaguchi sald:

"At that time I thought, 'If those people from ths other
centers reall; understood the situation in here they wouldn't
dare come,' ILven if lir, Hest did want them to come, they
didn't have to. L didn't blame Mr, Hest at all. Those Japanese
who did come should know better,"4

Ifrom abridged ¥BI Report on the Tule lLake Incldent, p. 96.

“Notes, Mar., p. 52.
Yngport, Lec, 24, p. 15, Notes, April

ne | p. 50. Sea also Notes, Feb, pl4
41vid,, Oct. 12, 1944, p. 1.
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Bem WRA provided food for thewa harvesters from the warehouses
where the residents' food was stored, removing it by night,
Thirty-two thousand pounds of food were taken out by members of
the appointed personnel on the night of October 20,1 oOpler
atated that the food was taken at night because the trucks were
needed for other work durinsz the day, but it is also very possible
that the WRA he ated to remove the food by day for fear of
arousing additlional resentment. However, svacuee espionage against
the administration was functlioning at high piteh and 1t was immedi-
ately noted that the trucks were driven to the warehouse, loaded
with large quantities of food and then driven off the project,

The next morning, Japanese employed 1in the warehouse checked up

on the missing items. According to one informant they found 120
sacks of rice, 50 cases of mllk, many cans of corn and pineapple
and much flour and catsup gone, They themselves never received

catsup at mess.® While, this removal of food was not the basiec

cause for resentment it proved to be an execellent wehicle for

expressions of bltterness agalnst the administration.

A nisel member of the Daihyo Sha sald: Ll Gchadu

"The food happened at night. <The people didn't know about
it. We figured thls warehouse was for the center, What would
you think i1f people came in with trucks at night?"9d

¢ | !.“.,P\

A
a. .
JFu imoto stated 1n a letter to the writer:

"These workers were being fed from the project warehouse
from which food was deing taken out at all hours of the night
and day. This led the evacuees to believe that they were being
done out of a goodly portion of their food., Subseguent investi-
gation upheld this belief,"4

ITRA, Tule Lake Incident, Sequence of Events,
Report, Dec. 24, 1943, pp. 13, 21.
SR, Hankey, Notes, Mar, 1944, p. 62,
4Report, Dec. 24, 1943, pp. 13, 14,




A8 soon as thls removal of food became known a group of

young men, some of whom were bLalhyo Sha members sot to watching
M s
the warehouses and the motor pool at night. Although lir,) Kato

2
one of the leaders of this group has assured the writer that
"we wero ready to beat up any Uaucaslan we caught trying to take
food," the writer 1s inclined to think that the youns fellows
had no forrmalated plan and perhaps, hoped, by their very presence
alone, to forestall another administrative attempt to feed the
harvesters, Caucasians residing in thls area have remarked that
they heard the boys talking and laughing as they snooped about
the area in the night, Some of these young men considered theme
selves to be very tough indeed and had engaged in rowdy and violent
actlvitles in the centers from which they had come. Their tempera-
ment may be judged from the following description of a small gang
of boys 1in FPoston who went to Tule lLake prepared to cause trouble,
The writer knows that at least one of this Poston group was promi-
nent in the group watching the warehouses.

"It might be true that some small groups pledged among the
members to cause some t rouble when they arrived at Tule Lake.
For instance, 1 remember a group of about seven kibei who pPledged
to cause trouble at Tule Lake when they left Poston. They pre-~
pared knives at the Machine Shop before segregation. One of them
bought a pistol for twenty-five dcllars and took it to Tule Lake.
I don't think the plstol was confiscated when they arrived at
the segregation center., Nonstheless, I don't think there were
any more than two or three such groups among the Foston contin-

gents,"

OCTOBSR 28 MULTING OF il DAIHYO SHA KAI

On October 28 the Laihyo Sha Kai held its next meeting. This

meeting again was not too well attended, seven men being absent,

The Commlttee made a report on their interview with Mr. Best

lgomminication from "X", November, 1044,




which, except for a certaln tone which made the Committee sound
yxceedingly arrogant and Mr, Best exceedingly meek, was fundamentally

accurate .l Under the cilrcumstances, Kuratoml, as chairman, would

be inclined to put the conference with Mr, Best in as favorable a

light as possible. He was obliged to get concessions or admlt
failure.

i‘he expected 50 day walt for food supplies was fully explained.
In concluding the report, Ruratoml stated that no record of this
interview had been kept and that the Project bLirector had promised
to> send a written meme "with regard to the demands.™ He then
stated that he had recommended the cultlvation of only 700 acres
of farm land, adding:

"There 18 no necesslty of tllling the remaining balance of

3200 aeres of lsnd. . . Since we have pledged our loyalty to
Japan, owr acts today wlll have a great significance on the day
when peace once agzain returns,”

Takahashl then askeds

"l wonder if 700 acres of farmland to work are sufficient for
the eolonists of this sizej"

Sald KXuratomis

"According to Project Director Best, the maximum limit of
acreage 1s 700 acres for the coloniats' subsistence., This
problem will be fully dilscussed upon the arrival of Myer,"

The questlon of resegregation of those persons who were
"loyal™ to America from those who were "disloyal" was then

brought up. A member querled:

"Did the demotlating Committee ever demand the WHA, resegre-
gation of disloyal and loyal%®"

Auratoml stated that they had. Apparently there are some

insertions in the minutes at this point., It is not clear what

lgpurtn meeting of the wailiyo Sha Kai of the Tule. Lake Center,
g)‘)o ] - 4.
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questions were raised. It is likely, however, that many of the
members did not understand exactly what Xuratomi meant by re-segre-
zatlion, sAuratomi repeatedly insisted to the writer that he had
never advocated actual re-segregation but only a clarification of
status so that those individuals who had stayed in Tule Lake with
no intention of returning to Jjapan might be moved ont of the
center, His objJect, he stated, was unification, a camp of people
of like sentiments toward Japan.l

The extremely important matter of the termination of the
farm workers was then brought up.,

Komiyas Administration requested the return of badges after the
farm incident, However, very few poople assembled,

Chalr: Has the termination been glven to them?

Komiyas; Not yet,

Chalr: The polnt we must keep in mind 1is that since the rfarm
samployees nave not been formally discharged, there 1s no need of
returning the badges. Because this 1s not a strike, they have
no rignt to terminate farm employees without due reason,

The puzzling matter of status was again introduced:

Volce from the floor: How will we dlstinguish the disloyal from
the loyal?

Volce from the floor: Utmost care and consideration should be taken,

Chalrs; Due to the administration's lack of understanding of

Tapane se psyechology, many tragical incldents may result, We have
to remember that we are Japanese and are for the greater and right-
eous talngs. 'What's why we are dlscussing this for the purpose

of unification,

dsuda: ,There are several colonists who have re jected the regis-
tration® and there are others who registered 'yes', who at the
time of re-segregation stubbornly remained and are still with us,
If we should demand re-segregation of colonists how should we
present the problem?

1;uratnmi's stand on this matter was to assume much significance
almost a year later when he differed sharply with a group which
advocated out-and-out resegregation of a group "truly loyal to
Japan" as against Kuratomi's ideal of a camp unified Dy the ejection
of a comparatively small group of individuals “loyal to America."
?lhere were, in fact, at tnis time over 1,000 persons in Tule Lake
who had refused to register at the time of Hil?tary Hegistration,




Chair: I have no plan as to the ways and means, Because of this
war-time condition, one should not pursue the policy for his own
selfishness and should clearly pledge hls allegiance to Japan
immediately.

Tsuda's statement is an excellent expression of the resentment
over the predlcament of' sharing the camp with persons who had
pledged thelr loyalty to America or had refused to make a state-
ment of loyalty, Kuratomi's inability to explain how this much
nesded process was to be carried on 1s not surprising in view of
the fact that over a year later the administration was still
puzzling over whether or not some sort of re-segregation should
take place and 1f so, how it should be done.

The Chalr then proceeded wilith the plan for the election of
the various divisional comrittees and plans for the function of
the farm department, farm produce, chicken and hog farm, food
supply, motor pool, hospital, betterment of living condition,
internal security, and education., He mentionsd that LPest had
agreed to glve the colonists free reign in managing the Internal

Securlty lepartment,

Kozaka: Wouldn't 1t be misunderstood if a central body is formed
at this time without first consulting the colonists?

vhair: No, Lalhyo sha sal was elected from each block by election
and this body was formed by that representative body so there is
no inconsistency.

Bozaka: I make a recomsendation that the block representatives
consult the colonists first before further going into the
dlscussion of a plan for the further formation of divisional
committeecs,

Chalrs Of course, 1t should be that way. We cannot decide by
curselves,

fal suggested that this plan for the election of permanent
comulttees De put before the colonists at a mass meeting,

Talkahashl put this into the form of a motion and it was approved




unanimously. Kai stated: "We will have the approval of the
colonlats upon recommendation of each block and request their
support,"” He added:

"As the chair reported tonight, I am sure WRA will co-
operate with this body. Lf in case they do not, then the Negoti-
ating Ctommittee will see to it that they concede to our demands,®

Hatano thanked the Negotiating Committee on behalf of the
farm department commlttee for thelr effort,

Takahashl recommended thiat the bloeck representatives elect

filtting persons for the wvarious posts and that the final deeilsion

should be given to the “aihyo Sha Kal. & written recommendation
conveyed to the colonists. 4Yhils was unanimously
approved,

vomment on Meeting

Although the Negotiating Committee and the Laihyo Sha had

suffered a severe set-back, the termination of the farm workers
and thelr replacement Dy Japanese harvesters from other centers,
the minutes of this meeting show that they had not loat hope or
aven bDecome markedly discouraged. Xuratoml informed the writer
ter, that, during this perlod, he was still optimistic and was
cortain that the 4Aifficulties could be resclved in a manner satis-
factory to the residents. rrobably, he and the body were gambling
neavlly on the premlse that they would have more success with
Ulllon Myer than with Best. HAuratomi's statements regarding the
termination of the farm workers reveal that he had considerable
hope that the committee would be able to carry its point with
the administration: "Because this 1s not a strike they have no

right to terminate farm employees without due reason.” Preliminary

plans were made to proceed with the election of the various permanent
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divisional committees and 1t was moved that this matter be sub-
mitted to the residents at a mass meeting.

ARRIVAL OF DILLON MYER - ACTIONS OF DAIHYQO SHA KAI

Two days later Dillon Myer arrived on the project. The
OA A6 I-q_{ rM/\_ [ A AvAL 6.14_/‘-‘\}\. ’ nuw .
Negouﬁhng Committeé asked for a meeting withpje
hs-o‘&::;

refusad. [meeeed, /\that he would meet with the Farm
Group on November 2.1 By ignoring the Negotiating Committee
completely the adminlistration probably hoped to complete the
process.of discrediting the body, a process which it fallaciously
thought had been begun by the termination of the farm workers.
But the Negotiating Committee could not afford to let this opportu-
nity pass. If 1t did not achieve "recognition" from Director Myer
1ts chances for future success were poor indeed. Kuratomi described
the situation as followss

"So when Mr, Myer came we felt we had to show that we had

support so that Mr, Myer could see with his own eyes the support
we had., That was our paramount intention,"?

The plan which the committee concelved and carried out was

a small masterplece of political strategy. E)n November%

g representatives announced at the noon mess that #EEESn Myer
would meet with the Negotiating Committes that arternoonJand el

ae® would speak to the people. Hhe—people were exhorted to attend

as a gesture of support to their representativesg A very fine

description of the proceedings and the temper of the people in

ward VII, which was very pro-Laihyo Sha was given by Mrs., Yamaguchi,

an accurate informant:

"It was announced in the mess that Mr. Myer was here and
that the representatives of the Dalhyo Sha would see him on matters
that the residents of the colony wanted determined such as the hospi-
tal. I think the hospital wasthe biggest problem then.

IHmHWM—p_'S a./tunl_,‘,\._,‘_\t I'.' ;_;..-‘%’Z'Lvr}.V\A_; 1
’ . L

2¥btdz, Sept. 18, 1944, p. 6.
ﬁ‘ -'W_JQH}?}IU’LI-—' "
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"They sald they didn't care whether we were young or old.
They wanted us to go and they told us that we would not be per-
mitted to come home when we wanted to,

"About ten minutes after we came home from lunch, everyone
of us got ready and formed a line in front of the mess hall and
we walked to the administration building, When we reached there,
the place was packed with people from other blocks,

"It seemed some blocks didn't take the trouble to really
get serious and the residents went of their own will. Every one
of us went from block 68, I think a lot went from curiosity,.“l

At a previous interview, when discussing the support given

the Daihyo Sha at this time, Mr, Yamaguchi who weighs less than

a hundred pounds said with flashing eyes, "When we went to the
administration building on November 1, we marchedl"
j:;fter lunch, a veritable multitude streamed to the administra-

tion building, - The crowd may have numbered 10,000. Most of theg, ,

A,

Negotlating Committee‘n Curlosity and fearu%énizgi;7ism if they

absented themselves were ealser important motiVes, t is Justifiable
to conclude that the temper of the people must have been very high,
No amount of oratory or "pressure" would have gotten them out in
such numbers to face a possible recurrence of the Manzanar fatali-
ties, if tension and resentment against the administration had

not been so strong. The Daihyo Sha was taking no chances, however,

When the people had left the camp area, certaln young men, members

of a committee apEo nted by Dgihyo Sha leadens "to keep order"
blocked &Nﬂdﬂ'}aketu# _ Lol n . :

libid., Oct, 12, 1944, p. 2. -
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[:Th demonstration was perpetrated entirely without warning.
M

the adminiatrut1v§ personnel had the least inkling that
it was contemplated. <S%wes Japsmese overran the entire administration

nto Dr.
out, "Dr, F - " fedicord left his ofifice,

=== approached the boys pOrding t inforgpants, e
J & 5

called thﬁm offensive ngries, ~Qne of snatchad e

and trv—Yedicord strlck him. The gwoup then ‘-.. Ciaae

him severely. fccordine to the WRA repd they carried him outside

f ,the building, him on the ground asad—were~ebewt—to—co Te
B s s il .. o

o—Peating when Méew—Gurseas, a nurse and otherg'rushed out,

The;eupea—%he—gang—d&epe@eedz1;]

This was the first incident in which the Negotiating Committee
was unable to control the "hot-heads" and the "strong-arm actionist s"
as they are called. To keep these violently inclined individuals
in line was one of the most difficult tasks of the leaders. Their
failure on this occasion did not aid their negotliations with
DPillon Myer,

Rap-armtion .
2: Completely surrounded by thousands of Jepanese , aﬁd virtually

imprisoned in §he administration building, Dillon Myer consented

to see the Sommittee. According to Caucasian witnesses, the

13ohn Bigelow, "Report on the EBeating of Dr. Reece M. Pedicord,
Chief Medical Ufficer, at the Tule Lake Center," Nov.l, 1943.




members of the committee approached the bullding “"as 1f they

knew exactly what they were doing and had everything well planned,“
and saw to 1t that a public address system was set up. Meanwhile,
g'\-l'-g-g,.."':‘tg."-.o,"f’wer-e stationed at the doors of the administration building

to see that no Uaucasian left, According to a statement made by

Heverend Kal, these young men took this task upon themselves on

their own initlative and ®aed the Negotiating Committee

Lk
voice in the matter’ Tee—Lommittes _stoted Kei, did not abprove.
This 1s very likely true, and is a:==$or example of the leaders!'

Aifficulty in controlling the "strong-arm" boys

In addition to Mr. Myer and Mr. Best, Mr. Cozzens, the
Regicnal Director of the WRA, Mr. Zimmer, assistant Project
Director, Mr., Schmidt, the Chilef of Internal Security, Mr, Cahn
who was employed in the flnance division and Dr. Webber an ex-mlis-
slonary employed in the Helocation division were present at this
conference. 'The Negotliating Committee had increased from 10 to
17 members, The augmentation of the committee was viewed with
suspleion by the administration, however, in consideration of the

very incomplete integration and organization of the Dailhyo Sha at

this time, the informal personnel of this “"Negotiating Committee"
1s quite understandable. Anybody was brought along whose presence
was thought needful, Seven men were members of the Central Com-
mlttee of the Dalhyo Shas Messrs. Nakao, Hoshiko, Kai, Yamamoto,
Uchida, Kobayashi, Mori and Hayashi. Mr. Kato was the English

Secretary of the Dalhyo Sha; he was probably brought along because

he spoke English well and could take notes of. the English discus-

sion, Kodama and Hatano were representatives of the farm group;

1¥pom exerpts from FBI Report on Tule Lake Incident, p. 47,
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Takeda represented the Agricultural division, and Nogawa, the
Hosplital Committee. Inouye and Klmura were champion judo men
of the fourth or highest rank who probably were brought along in
case any of the young hot heads got out of hand.l rrobably they
were also consldered the nominal leaders of the young men who
took charge of the crowd and kept people froﬁ returning to the
camp when the long wait for the speech from Dillon Myer became too
arduous, The writer has no proof that the Jjudo men formed the
nucleus of this group of young men, but has been told by well
informed Japanese that this is usually the case in such demonstra-
tions 1in the camps.2

Throughout thls meeting Kuratomi was much more aggressive
than at the first meeting. He attempted repeatedly to get definite
answers to his questions, realizing well that even one definite
concession on the part of the Administration would bulk larger
in establishing the prestige of the Negotiating Committee than
any number of vague promises to "look into things." When presenta-
tion of the problems and arguments failed, he repeatedly called
the Caucasilans' attention to the great mass of demonstrators
walting outside. He failed, however, to obtain anything signifi-
cant to which he could point as an indisputable accomplishment.
It is also noteworthy that he attempted to direct himself to Direec-
tor Myer over Mr, Best's head, a technique which was followed
thereafter atthough-Myer-freoquentliy-$0e by the later pressure

groups, Mr, Best would not allow this, although Myer frequently

took over the argument when it threatened to get out of hand. The

1R, Hankey, Notes, Jan. 18, 1945, pp. 2-3.
2Information from "X".
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meeting at no time degenerated into the squabbles which marked
that of OUctober 26.

Both parties, Caucasians and Japanese must have been under
tremendous tension., <“The meeting began most inauspiclously for the
Negotiating Committee, for while the Japanese and Caucaslians were
assembling in Mr., Best's office lr. Best recelved a telephone call
from the hospital, informing him of the assault on Dr. Pedicord.
He asked Kuratomi what was going on at the hospital and Kuratomi
replied that he did not know. DBest thereupon informed Kuratomi
that Dr. Pedlieord was being badly beaten up. <The Negotlating
Committee immediately sent over some men to stop it, Mitsuho
Kimura, the judo champion was one of these sent.

Kuratomi began the discussion cautiously by asking for the
notes of the first meeting. He had good reason for this, for he
wlished to refer to them to carry the major point of this consulta-
tion, the extremely important matter of the farm workers' dimissal.
Best replied that the notes had not been prepared.l Kuratomi then
stated that it was unfortunate that matters had come to this point.
“We do not want to commit any riots or conduct ourselves in a dis-
orderly manner. The people outside are here to express theilr
dissatisfaction and anger about the Center administration.”

Mr. Best asked if Kuratomi intended to bring charges on the whole
or on some specific thing. Kuratomi replied that he was not sure
if the matter should be called a "charge". The Committee nhad been
asked to bring up the peoples' "grievances, requests and demands"
so that lr, liyer could get an all over picture of how 111 adminis-

tered the Center was. bDest asked that everything be directed to

lihe writer has seen this same excuse offered to other pressure

groups when the minutes had been transcribed. It is possible that
kr, Best was not tellling the truth,




He

him and not to Mr, Myer, nu?a%em?—%hcn stated thap)should the
administration continue its inag?eglatment of thé£3;;;;;::? the
affair could be reported to the Japanese Government. He added
that he believed American democratic principles were at stake
and that if the conditlons prevailing were allowed to continue,
"the democratic quality of the united States will be greatly
injured." He accused lr., Best of failing to keep faith with the

Negotiating Committee and of inhumanity in regard to the funeral

of Mr, nashimgg] The discussion was interrupted to wait for a

report from the hospital that order had been restored.
turatomi then brought up the same questions of evacuee status

under International Law and the possibility of making Tule Lake a
center only for those persons who wished to return to Japan which
he had put on Uctober 27, He received no more satisfaction than
at the Uctober 27 meeting although he tried very hard to pin Myer
down, myer would not admit that there was even a possibility of
making Tule Lake a center only for Japanese who wished to return
to Japan. Since the question of the status of the residents of

Tule Lake continued to be a major source of irritation to the

Japanese for well over a year and was later to break out again with

tremendous force in the wlnter of 1944-1945, it would be well to

quote this discussion between myer and Kuratomi:

Kuratomi: In regard to the second question. "The residents would
have this Center designated for all those who have
intention of going back to Japan sooner or later. Would
there be some solution to that?

Myer: Can't give you a final answer to that. 1t will have to
be worked out on the basis of what is feasible from the
standpoint of what is available in the way of a physical
program to work that out. This is something that you

and we, the WRA, have to work out. i1f it is not satis-
factory the problem is studied more carefully.




Kuratomi: It 1s a possibility?

Myer: There 1s a possibility to anything that lies within the
scope of my domain to decide. Nothing more than that.

Kuratomis: You wouldn't stay there is a possibility?

Myers No., bpecause 1 don't want to 1lmply any promises that 1
can't carry out, 1 want to be very careful to have the
policies understood. I don't commit myself if I can't
produce, L1 don't want to do that until we can study the
problem. We have to know how many people are involved -
who should stay here and who can go somewhere else and a
lot of other things have to be considered.

Kuratomi: Have you taken into note the friction between the people
who have expressed their desire to go back to Japan and
those who are still loyal to this country. There are still
quite a lot in this Uenter at the present time.

Myer: Certainly. <Those wheo are considered loyal to this courtry
wlll still have an opportunity to be considered for move-
ment elsewhere, wno guestion about that.

Kuratomi: How soon do you think the process of segregation can be
completeds

Myer: I don't think it possible to estimate., "Things are in a
state of flux, We will have to get a program in order.
I haven't been here long enough to know what the situation
is. You people haven't given me an opportunity to talk
to the people who have the records.

suratomi: Can you give us an answer before you leave?

Myer: I don't know if I can give an answer before 1 leave. It
may take quite some time to study the situation. When
you are dealing with thousands of people, in order not
to do an injustice to the people it takes time to work
out a procedure.

Kuratomi next brought up the vital matter of the termination
of the farmers as of October 19, stating that the farmers were
furious over being terminated without warning since they had
mr. Kallum's signature that they were not striking. Kuratomi
betrayed his position by stating: "When we made the announcement

over the result of our conference with mr. Best, the farmers

naturally félt they would be permitted to go back to work. How-

ever, just before they started back to work a notice was published




that they were terminated as of October 19." He referred to lr,
Best's statement that he was willing to talk things over with

the farm committee, DBest explained that in making that statement
he had been discussing the next years' crop and added that the
committee had stated on October 26 that they were not interested
in harvesting the crop and that from that time on there was no
farm. "But that isn't the way we were terminated at Topaz,"
complained Kuratomi,

The argument continued for 11 pages, Kuratomi battling vali-
ently for some concession., lie pointed out that Best had refused
to see any Negotiating bBody, referring to his first conversation
with Mr. Best on October 1.1 Said Mr. Best: "I definitely told
you ... that I would make no public statement at that time. You
are the only ones I told it to."

Karatomi then pointed out that the farmers had been terminated

at a date prior to the time Mr, best's statement asking for repre-

sentatives to come forward had been made. DBest ignored this and
told him to get along to the rest of the questions. Kuratomi in
turn ignored this request, stayed with the point, and informed
Best that the question was very serious and that he could not
guarantee the reaction of the people outside 1f he were to report
Best's answer to them. Myer interrupted here and stated that
nothing could be done. The argument continued at great length,
Kuratomi contending that it was not a matter of money but a matter
of principle. Myer eventually settled the question by advising
that the adminlstration's statement be retracted with the under-
standing that the terminations were still valid and that the termi-

nated farmers would not be put back on the payroll. In this way

lsee b. A
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the farmers would have the privilege asked by Kuratomi, of knowlng
they were going to be terminated before they were terminated, a
dubious victory to say the least.

Kuratomi told the writer later that his chief concern in
thlis matter was that the farmers had become so enrayged that if
some concession were not made to them they could not be kept under
control. Considering the temper of the people at this time this
was probably not exaggeration.l

""here was an effort on our part to try to minimlze the
grievance toward the administration and we had to have some
ground to appeal to the farm group to be more patient, If Mr.
Best made some concession, we could defend the practice (termi-
nation) at that time."2

At this point lr. Best asked how long the demonstration out-
side was going to be carried on. Kuratoml sald that 1t was not a
demonstration., ™What would you call it?" asked Best. Kuratoml
replied, "There has been no trouble at all. They (the people)
are waiting for the answers to these questions." Myer requested
that the discussion move along since his time was limited and he
had a lot of business to take care of.

Kuratomi then asked if any Japanese loyal to dmerica were
coming to harvest the crop. (He must have known that thils was the

case, since the first contingent of farm workers had arrived the

day before.) Myer replied for Best:

"hay I answer that? [@é are going to take care of the har-
vesting of the crop outside and I have no comment to make nowe
You folks did not want to do it so we arranged to have it done
outside and I cannot make any cOmmenEi] In view of the decision

1so says "X",

“R. Hankey, Notes, Dec. 26, 1944, p. 3.
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we will have to keep that as a separate issue, 1 am sorry.“l

Staying with his attempt to get an admission of the presence
of the "loyal" harvesters, Kuratoml then asked why merchandise
had been taken from the warehouse on the past two nights, and
added that because of this, one mess hall did not receive its
proper share of food. mwMr. Best attempted to avold the question
saying:

"Let's get alonge 1 will set down for the records that we
will meet with any mess hall committee on those things, We haven't
any records here and can't discuss those things at this time. If
you want to get into details it takes time George."

Kuratomi, however, was not to be lured away from the polnt

under discussion., he' stated:

"We can't make such a report. ‘They (the people) want a definite
answer and 1 doubt if that answer will do,"“

. [best: It is our property and we are accountable for that property.

We can do what we want to with it.

Kuratomis: Because of the fact that some merchandise was taken out
of this venter some mess halls suffered a shortage.

Best: I would want to get into that thoroughly. I would want to
find out exactly what was supposed to be delivered and was not and
what mess halls were short., I want to know that.

Kuratomi: When you do find out what happened will you take proper
action®

Best: What would be proper action., mMgybe I don't know what the
proper action is. I certainly will see that all staple commodities
as far as the Quartermaster can supply will be kept here. 1 will
see that the mess department keeps those things in here and supplies
them to the mess halls,

11t was undoubtedly to this statement that Mr, Cozzens referred wien
he was quoted in the Pacific Citizen of Nov. 6: |"Cozzens said that
a committee -of the assemblage then., . .asked what was to be done
about the crops which the Tule Lake residents had refused to harvest
+ « «Cozzens said that the Japanese Committee was told 'lf was none
of their business' what would be done about the crops.'"

IT will be noted that Dillon Myer's statement was by nd means so
‘rude. However, Japanese in Yule Lagke read this article in the
Pacific Citizen and believed that this statement had been made by
Cozzens. It caused a tremendous increase in the resentment which
was already at high pitch.
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Kuratomi: I am not satisfied with your answer as yet., We have to
make a definite statement as to why this food was taken out and
why the mess halls suffered,

liyers Mr., Best gave you his answer. 1 am sorry but there will be
no report why the food was taken out, I don't feel that it is
necessary to report every movement made., If you request an investi-
gation regarding such a case and if it is proven that they were
short, proper action will be taken, . «I am sorry to say we cannot
be in a position to report to the community on every movement of

trucks;]
Y;huratomi was forced to lcuv b ,b of thpgl importght noints

theilr 1mportance &=

s9dmﬂ%f%o-%he—ﬂanmana_and;UxLimsidanxs. Months later, Mr, DBest

continued to be denounced by the residents for bringing in the

"loyal" farm workers and for feeding them "food belonging to us.":]

Kuratoml next launched into a denunciation of Lr., Pedicord's
work at the hospital. e listed a number of incidents at the
hospltal stating that Fedicord had let two appendicitis patients
walt until it was almost too late and that a child was stillborn
beceuse the mother had been given morphine injections improperly.

“There are many cases such as that to prove the inefficiency
and indifference of Caucasian doctors in this hospital. 1t was
decided by the evacuee doctors in this center that if such doctors
are to stay in thls center and more or less see people die from
day to day they cannot stand to see such a thing exist,"

Kuratoml added that it had been decided the night before to
ask for the resignation of "each and every Caucasian doctor and
each and every Caucasian nurse who feel so superior that some of
them believe they know more about medicine than the Japanese doctors
who have had a big practice and lots of responsibility." Adachi,
the Block Manager of block 16 then told a pitiful story of how his
nephew had dled due to purported neglect on the part of Dr. Marks,

liyer promised to go into the complaints thoroughly. "A judge never




makes a declision until he gets both sides." Thereupon, Kuratoml
stated:

"Mhis is not a complaint, We don't get anywhere with com-
plaints. sonsequently, it 1s turning into demands. The people
want the immediate removal of all the Caucasian doctors and nurses
and we want a definite answer today.

liyers That is impossible because I have been on the project only

6 or 7 hours and haven't even had a chance to look around.

Kuratomi: Let me say this much. 'his has been a request from the
evacuee doctors and nurses., . .. don't want to see any violence. .
unless you remove those people from the hospital. . .1 cannot
guarantee the actions of the people. This is not a threat. I
cannot stop these people from swarming over to the hospltal and
getting after the doctors. I don't want to see any violence take
place but I cannot guarantee what the people will do if we have to
give them this answer.

myer: 1 have never taken any actlon under threat or duress,

Kuratomi: It is not a threat; it 1s a fact. I am just explaining
the actual tenslon.

Myer: I realize what exists, Someone is responsible for that.
The people are pretty well whipped up. I am sure the tension would
be much greater if I made concessions without going into the facts.

. o1 am very sorry that is the situation. In view of what happened
at the hospital today cannot take action until we investigate the
matter, ‘'That is final.

Kuratomli: Do you want us to make the statement just as you said 1t?

Myer: You may state it as you wish., 1 hope you will give them

the facts. <Tell the people that I am here. I hope to go quietly
about my work looking into the problems of the Center with the
evacuees and the administrative staff. . .We hope to get a com-
pletely representative group of the Tule Lake Center to come up
here to discuss their problems. 1iou folks are serving in a tempo-
rary capacity until a truly representative committee has been
chosen, . .1 am sorry but I will not make any commitments that
require action of removal of any personnel without seeing the other
side.

Here, Adachi, the conservative Block Manager felt obliged to
clarify his position, making the following significant statement:

"I don't belong on this committee. I am so grieved at the
loss of my nephew that I wanted to speak to you so you can look
into the matter. However, I am not being a party to any demands.
I worked under Mr. Shirrell and lr. Coverly and I don't want to
make any trouble. I just wanted you to know the facts., I will
be glad to be excused. I feel out of place here,"
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This is an interesting section of the conference since
Kuratomi put on his strongest pressure here, holding the "uncon-
trollable anger" of the people over Myer's head while myer refused
to be swayed into making an immediate concession. (Pedicord was,
however, removed three days later, but subsequently reinstated.)
Kuratoml was quite right when he stated that he could not stop
the people from swarming into the hospital and attacking the
doctors. In the opinion of the writer, he exaggerated the possi-
bility of more violence but he did not exaggerate the tension in
camp or the temper of the people. If he could have wrung a con-
cesslon from myer on this matter, it would have released some of
the tension and, as he did not say, would have increased the pres-
tige of the Negotiating Committee in the eyes of the people.
Adachl's statement is very interesting. Although he admitted to
the writer that at this time he and the other Block Managers

generally approved the attempt of the Dalhyo Sha to improve the

living condltions of the camp, he was most anxious that he not be
considered one of the "agltators' by the admiuistration. Many
residents must have shared this mixed attitude of it's fine as
long as it doesn't do us any harm." Six weeks later Adachi was

to play a considerable role in opposing the Laihyo Sha and the

Negotliating Committee.

Mr. Sugimoto then presented the report of the food committee.,
Stating that since coming into Tule Lake, the segregants felt that
the food was qualitatively and quantitatively below that of the

other centers. &He stated that the evacuees in September had been

fed at the cost of 24¢ per person per day although LUillon Myer had

slgned an administrative instruction naming per person as the

“‘&’f?:}wyu
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proper amount. He also stated that the Caucasian personnel was
getting far more than its share of rationed goods; moreover, they
received the cholsest cuts of meat. Myer stated that if it were
true that the people were not getting the proper food it would be
corrected immediately.

Kuratomi then briefly went back over the points presented at
the October 27 meeting, the uniform porches, improvement of the
latrines, and dust control of the roads. Dest sald these matters
were under consideration. Kuratomi brought up the absence of
brooms, buckets, mops, closet space, and the recognition of a
Central Organization. He galned no more satisfaction than at the
first meeting. He then presented a statement "from the residents"
demanding the removal of Mr, Lest, the Project Lirector; Mr., Zimmer,
Assistant Project Lirector; Mr. Schmidt, head of Internal Security;

Mr, Kallum, head of the Agricultural Division; Mr., Peck, the chief

steward; Mr. Kirkman of the Warehouse Section and all of the Cau-

casian doctors and nurses. Myer made a long speech at this point,
stressing that he had absolute confidence in Best and making no
direct answer to this demand for removals.

"All I have to say further is this. I am glad to have had
the opportunity to meet with you. I want to say that I have abso-
lute confidence in Mr. Best, or I wouldn't have placed him here.

I placed him here. 1 placed him here because I felt that he had
understanding, courage, and would know how to work with you people
in working out your problems. I still think that.

"As far as personalities are concerned, I came up here to go
over with him problems in relation to personnel or any other pro-
blems he might have. 1 am going to accept hls recommendations and
will probably make a few of my own, I want to make it quite clear
that lr, Best is in charge, and that we can't operate on the basis
of demands, but only on the basis of sitting down and talking things
over.,
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"There is only one agency I know of who operates on the basis
of demands. We don't operate that way. 1 want to repeat. The War
Relocation Authority has been in operation for a year and a half,
We have gone through a good many trlals and tribulations and
troubles. We have been investigated twice by the United States
Congress, as regarding the population and problems of these people.
They have said things about your problems which I haven't agreed
wil th. s

"We hope we can work with you. If we can't I presume there
will be someone else working with you. 1 don't know who that would
be., 1 am sure that you are not interested in having trouble. . .

"When you have any suggestions, bring them to Mr. Best. DLon't
bring them in the way of demands. That embarrasses him and it
embarrasses you, We can't meet demands. We are operating under
the United States Government and have to follow certain policiles.
We are willing to investigate charges and are wlilling to take
action 1f we find they are based on facts.

"I am much obliged to you for coming in. I am sure that you
will want to operate on that kind of basis and if you don't, there
will have to be some other kind of basis worked out. I am not
here to make threats. 1 don't make threats. We stand on what
we are trying to do. We think our program has been pretty sound
so far, and that the evacuees generally understand that,

"I think you have some differences of opinion in this center.
While I don't know how many people you represent, I doubt that you
represent all of them. I hardly think that you represent every-
body's point of view. It is difficult to represent everybody's
point of view when there are 15,000 people here. I hope that I
can have an opportunity to devote my time amd attention to the
problems represented here within the next 24 hours or so and I
want to get at some facts and I am sure that is what you want me
to do."

Later, several informants criticized the Negotiating Committee 's
request for removal of the Appolinted Personnel. Whether this re-
quest actually sprang from the people is open to doubt. However,
all of the gentlemen concerned were very unpopular in the colony
and their removal would have been received with general satisfaction.

Concerning these latter proposals, Kuratomi made the following

explanation to the writer:

"We felt that if a request were made to get rid of Mr. Best,
lir, Myer would investigate the matter. If he were investigated
and remained, we could tell the people that an investigation had
been made and that his position is vindicated. . .Kirkman was thrown
out of Santa Anlta. He was caught in some kind of scandal there.




?

"The request to remove the Caucasian staff from the hospital
came from the hospital employees. I don't think they'd like me
to say that, but it's the truth. One point I want to make clear
was their feeling that if the Caucaslan doctors and nurses are
human enough to reallze the problem before them and are willing
to work for the benefit of the people, it would have been all
right."1

Analysis of Meeting

As far as actual accompllishment in negotiations is concerned,

the committee did not gain «ery much more by this meﬁtirg than by

ApAAniL
that of October 27. Myer, however, did promise to Investigate the

food situation,,EE:i-ﬁeh—Best i&'the-ﬁ%ﬂ-t meeting, had ‘-pe.ue.d.—o.f-f
somprebeny, Lt should be manizgiggihsfe that neither Mr, Myer

nor lir, Best made any sSpecific promises to the committee except

to investigate the complaints. This is important because later
both men, particularly Mr, Best, were accused of making promises
which they did not keep. The withholding of the termination notice
which was finally granted the committee, might have satisfied the

farm wowkers' principle;“ but it could not Titiqate the fact
(

) Lo o

. Myer also'prom sed to

investig@tj ﬁ ital sifuation. ~#syeho&ogically,—hewevef,~I;$

committeg‘hadLsirenﬁthened its position with the administration.

In splte of the attempts to explain the presence of the great
crowd by "pressure" or "terrorization" Myer could not fail to
realize that he had an aroused populace to deal with and that this
populace "supported" the committee. The actions of the administra-
tion in the two days that followed indicate that to some extent at

least the administration was convinced that they would have to deal

oy
with the committee as—reprasertetdivues and consider e requesi%(

A libid,, Sept. 18, 1944, pp. 6=7.

e
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*}mw g i

the great crowd of dapexese

stood quietly around the administration building fex_ftwo and a

ol _ PN state that th

et T

e] e, “IT wWaS rever =0
t%;gd—%n—nyek}Q&HL4uuékﬂe¥efﬁ}-niaai_girla*_ A young man, Tokyo
Yamane, acted as announcer and from time to time advised the crowd
to be patient @e the negotiations were proceding.l

When the meeting ended, Dillon Myer,at the request of Kuratomi

7
made a very short address to the people. This address was preceded

by a report from Kuratomi on the progress of the negotiations and

was followed by a speech by .everend sal. ZAccorainz—to—tun,Webber,
whoSpenks Japenese—luently, Kuratomi's attitude in his speech

to the people was much more conciliatory than th&féiidiﬂde he h

assumed in the Esetlng. 4§n—hia—&guuﬁ?ﬁéanmde no threats and t&=
MPM@ hopedl somethin%, ould be accomplishe}]‘%

Kuratoml outlined the speeches he and Heverend Kai made at

this time to the writers

"I made a very short speech. 1 said we had an opportunity
to negotlate not only with lir. Best but also with Mr. Myer., I
Just briefly summed up the points. In the majority of cases
lMr, Myer promised he'd conduct a thorough investigation and said
we'd be notifled. 1In general, the requests brought up were
received 1n a harmonious manner., In due times, 1 was positive,
everything would be ironed out. The recognition of a centralized
committee was important to the people. I mentioned that and also
about the food and the hospital.

‘iir, Myer spoke then. Then Reverend Kai spoke last. He
regiained the people from going into any unreasonable acts and to
always maintain their true virtue as real Japanese. The negotia-
tions were well conducted. At the last he said, 'This is the end
for the time being,' and told the people to disperse.”

lr"rom exerpts from FEI Report on Tule Lake Incident, p. 47.
21bid., pp. 4-5.
Sibid., R. Hankey, Notes, Dec. 26, 1944, pp. 3-4.
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Dr. Webber gave a more detalled account of Reverend Kai's
speechs

"We have been here a long time. A great many things have been
discussed and no conclusions have been reached. We will have to
enter into further negotiations in the future. You people must
remember that you are Japanese and must act as Japanese to hold
together for the sake of the Empire and the meeror.":l

According to Webber this speech was delivered in a very pas-
sionate tone of voice.l

tﬁ At the conclusion of Kai's speech, Yamane called on the people

to bow. ‘his they did in unison, according to Kuratomi, "not only
in gratitude to Reverend Kal but also as a gesture of gratitude to

lir, Myer."

g The rep?ft of Myer's speecﬁ%%rinted in the Tulean Dispatch
L}

of llovember -2 appears—asenrate:
IBEILGATES CONFER

Myer Addresses Local Residents at Ad. drea.

Presenting the requests, suggestions, and demands of the
colonists, seven representatives of the residents met with National
virector Dillon S. Myer snd Project Lirector Raymond R. Best yes-
terday afternoon.

buring the conference which lasted over two hours, practically
the entire population showed their support by surrounding the
administration building area during the entire afternoon.

{; At the end of the negotiations lMyer addressed the local
residents over the public address sy tem and stated that he has
met with the people's delegates to discuss thelr representations.
bxpressing utmost confidence in Director Best, myer concluded by
asking reside to cooperate with the administration in settling
all problems.nfi

George Kuratomi, a member of the representative group, gave
a brief report of the proceedings with the WRA officials,

In conclusion Reverend Kal appealed to the residents to
remaln calm during the negotiations and not create violence harm-
ful to the Japanese interests.

1pBI Report, ibid.
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The seven representatives will meet today and tomorrow with
the national director and the project director to discuss further
the points brought out 1n yesterday's initial conference.

Many informants have stated that they were anxlous to hear
what lir, Myer had to say and admit that they were disappointed
with his long-awalted speech., He gave no indication that any of
their grievances would be improved or that any concessions would
be made. He made no promises. Mrs, XYamaguchl expressed the
reaction of the people: "The ordinary people were disappointed,
rhey expected more to come out of it."}

Nevertheless, the successful demonstration and the capitulation

of the administration in granting the Negotiating Committee this

long interview added greatly to that body's prestige with the

residents. FPubllc support of the Daihyo Sha reached its highest

point around November 1. While support could by no means be called
unanimous, there was probably not an evacuee in camp at this time
who did not feel that 1f the Negotiating Committee could successfully
carry out 1ts policy of wringing some concessions from the adminis-
tration which would improve the general camp life, settle the farm
"work stoppage" and get rid of Dr. Pedicord, would be quite willing
to stand by and approve.

Undoubtedly, this meeting of November 1 may be considered a

victory for the Dalhyo Sha as far as their hold on the residents

was concerned. The commlttee had forced the administration to
recelve them as the peoples' representatives. With sagacity and
political foresight the leaders had avoided major errors, while
the administration had committed a serles of acts which progres-
sively increased the hostility of the evacuee population toward

WRA, e.g., refusing to grant the use of the gymnasium for the




funeral, calling in the harvest workers to break the "strike" and
feeding them with food which the colonists thought belonged to them,
and finally, refusing to recognize as representatives the members
of the committee which the people themselves had selected by block
election or appointment.

Most intelligent informants state that they belileve that the
few days after the November 1 demonstration up to the entrance of
the Army on november 4 marked the high point of camp unification

and public support of the Daihyo Sha and the Negotiating Committee.

The commlttee appeared to be making progress, it had been “recog-
niﬁed", the demonstration had been staged successfully except for

the beating of Fedlcord which, after all, was received with great
satisfaction by almost everyone. In other words, the Negotiating
Committee was looked upon as a successful group of leaders who had
made noteworthy accomplishments without bringing any undue incon-
venience upon the people. After November 4th when life became
increasingly uncomfortable, support dwindled slowly but progressively.

I'he Controversial "fromises"

[éha commnittee lost no time in publicizing the fact that

negotiations were Drocedinﬂ orably and that Mr, Best_ _had made
them certain concessionsh h&m&sw M
November-I meeting show that a eoedly number of the committee's
re guests—had beenm promised tonsideration, and that they had-every

right to-eonsider that tiiey had been given permission to establish
a-representative body. Moreover, ﬂ*few days after November 1,

Mr., Best anj:j:iif,jhat Lr. Pedicord would be dismissed, a decision

which was no arried out. He also stated that he wished to erect

uniform porches 1f Washington gave permission., Ii—is doubtful—




ol o

that the more inﬁgiilgent leaders of the Dalhyo Sha Kgx 5@?4}&1y

doceived the pdople on thid matter of pyonises, gpobahl:,/,ﬁo

.
; 2
less respon8ible members, with the agsi

stance -¢'3r]€/n>pﬁinto

rfect rumors through camp that specific promises

een made. When events made 1t impossible for Mr. Best to

4Ll e

eep to any of the statements made at tﬁc,:w;tifgs, this=trody—of

Qs i f"nﬂ ¢
actual and lmaginary broken prorise! point

X ted to repeatedly by
the residents as evidence of the "double-croasing" character of
br. Best,| the overwhelming majority of people, whether they were

& J - o ’ o

.

Dalhyo Sha supporters or not, considered him a cheat and a liar
K £k » »

A

an opinion to which they held for his entire carcer as project
director at Tule Lake,
On the matter of the dismissal of LUr. Fedicord and the
. Caucasian appointed staff at the hospital the accusations of the

people had good basls. On November 4 Mr, Best releascd the fol-

lowing letter, Later, Or., Pedicord was reinstated at 'ule Lake and

continued in his work thers for some time bafore his transfer to

a1

the Glila Relocation Center,

WAR RELOCATION AUTHORITY
Tule Lake Center
Newell, California

November 4, 1943

To whom 1t may concern:

mnndiatﬁlj following the incident at the hospital wherein
Yr, Pedicord was beaten by some unknown group of men, Uirector
Myer and Dr. redicord aqu"’ that doctors on the appointed staff
and the appointed staff of nurses were to be “P"Ovﬂﬁ from further
duty at the hospital, Federal regulations require that a hospital
administrator must be responsible for movernment proverty and nar-
cotles. In accordance thereswith Nurse Shipps has been detalled
a3 hospltal administrator. There are no facts to the rumor that

. Ur, Pedicord will return to the Tule Lake hospital.

/8/ R, R. Best
Project Lirector,




Draft II

ATTITULL OF THi ADMINISTRATION IMMELCIATELY AFTER NOVEMBER 1

(\), E\)n November 2nd th«s-\apﬁodrn-te-d—pmml held a meeting in
N=

the recreation hall at which a petition was circulated for a fence

between the adminlistrative and the evacuee areas. Director Myer
was asked to attend., Several of the appointed personnel made
speechos expressling their extreme state of insecurity. Some staff
mambers voslqnad.l Un the same day members of the Appointed
fersonnel, prominent among whom were those members of the hospi-
tal staff who were staunch supporters of Dr. Pedicord and the

most antl-Japanese persons on the project, held a meeting at the

town of Tule Lake, Dillon Myer agaln was asked to attend and 4did

g0 unwillingly. Thetemor—of4this—mestitnr was descriPed Dy a rather

emotional Uagucasian. The irate members of the WRA pergonnel de-

manded military protnction,(; e 1,/ machine

guns and tanks, «Myer stated that he was against a show of violence
for 'violence bred violence.! He voiced the opinion that the
members of the personnel were ' justifiably scared but insisted
that ade quate military protection was quietly in operation.!

“The leader of (the nurses) shook with fear and rage that
such an appeasement pollecy dare to be broached., Each small town
orator got up and stalked and posed. . (and) stormed about his
individual bravery." '

The personnel present at this meeting alsn demanded that a

St

fence be erected hetween—~she—SlEFmitoee and Caucasian quarters,
Immediately after Mr, liyer's departure, the construction of a
high barbed-wire topped fence, seperatinc th9532323219 section of
camp from the Cancaslan section (the Administration Bulldings,
living quarters and warehouses) was begun. Sentries were stationed
at the gcates and fenthe pemaindsy of the ecawn's existenge—tiTts

1

WRA, Tule Lake Incldent Sequence of Events, p. He
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Lo s t—rsesr®
meyTTHVE t0 Ue-Ccllanged) Yapenese- had to procure passes to be

allowed entrance into the "Caucasian aresa." |1 e
3

The state of mind of the administration immediately after
November 1 was one of indecision, tension and fear which in some
individuals amounted to hysteria. As far as men in higher posi-
tions were concerned, the lurid and exaggerated accounts of the
"Jap riots at Tule Lake" were most disturbing, Newspaper reporters,
put off wlth ilnnocuous statements, interviewed the Caucasians
employed in construction work who lived outside of the project and
built up fantastic stories based on the statements of these 111-

formed persons, The Japanese also were justifiably angered by
hese accounts which described them as "blood-thirsty Jap but

o them
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. this was only one of a large list of aggravations. To Dillon Myer and Mr.
Best this publicity was a matter of appalling seriousness. In fact, the injury
to public relations was probably the most severe blow dealt to WRA in all its
history. Every Administrative action and every event or disturbance which
followed November 1 was always oconsidered first from the viewpoint of what
effect it would have if the matter got into the newspapers. Extreme caution
was observed to see that news did not leak out. The importance of this fear
on the mind of Mr. Best and its effect on his future poliecy as Projeot Director
at Tule Lake cannot be over-emphasized.

Yet, despite the pressure and annoyance the November 1 demonstration and

the organization in the colony aroused among the higher members of the persommel,
the administration was not unsympathetioc to many of the Negotiating Committee's

demands or requests. Dr. Opler expressed this attitude well, although it is

. doubtful if the administration was quite as "sympathetioc" as he implies.

"The administration couldn't listen to them as demands. They were
really sympathetic to all of them (the demands) except the dismissal of
the staff members. The Negotiating Committee demanded promises. We said
we'd do what we could. They took it as a promise and insisted we'd broken
a promise."

4
% The Administration was correct in assuming that the Daihyo Sha did not
W ﬁn complete public support. However, it greatly underestimated the extent of
‘ the lack of support. Its greatest oversight was ignorance of the fact that the
great mass of the people felt they had elected these representatives and that
the people would always support actively or passively any group that stood
stalwartly against the unpopular Administration, even if it used threats or
employed violence. The public support of some of the demands was tremendous.
The deeds of the Administration, no matter what their character, would be re-

ceived with more or less opprobrium if for no other reason than that they sprang

1. R, Hankey, Notes, February, 1944, p. 2l.




from this hated souroce.
The Administration's ignorance of the extent of public support of the

Daihyo Sha Kai, and which of the committee's policies were approved or dis-

approved, was due to the fact that they knew practically nothing of what was
going on in the center, Tension was so great at this time that even if any
Caucasian had had the ouriosity or courage to investigate the situation, he
could have found out almost nothing. Even the most eager Japanese inu or
stool-pigeon would not have dared to give information. It is interesting that
several of the men who turned stool-pigeon two months later were at this time

vociferous members of the Daihyo Sha Kai. On the other hand, Kuratomi has told

the writer that on several ocoasions he tried to impress Dr. Opler with the
gravity of the situation, and give him a clear picture of the overwrought state
of the residents, Mr. Tsuda also remarked that he had to pull Dr. Opler into
the Internal Security office during Mr. Kashima's funeral and warn him to get
out of ocamp. Tsuda stated that he was unable to understand how Dr., Opler could
fail to perceive the seriousness of the situation, The extremely deceptive
quietness of an emotionelly tense Japanese group end the reluctance of the
Caucasian personnel to believe what they probably considered the exaggerated
statements of "agitators" must therefore also be taken into consideration as

a partial explanation of the administration's lack of perspective at this time.

November 2 Meeting of Daihyo Sha Kai

On November 2, the Daihyo Sha met again. The chief task before the body
was the determination of the method of selecting the permanent committees and
the permanent representative body which was to head up the proposed community
organization. The permanent representative body continued to be called "The
Negotiating Committee" in the minutes. The committees considered necessary
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were Hospital Investigation Committee, Farm Department, Motor Pool, Warehouse,
Mess Hall and Management, Police, Betterment of Living Condition, Education,
Personal,/ Fire, Administration. These suggestions, however, were considered
tentative and were to be referred to the people at a mass meeting.

The first question raised was how this permanent Negotiating Committee
and the sub-committees were to be selected. The minutes are very confused and
the disoussion is difficult to follow. Kuratomi explained the plan accepted to
the writer:

"Each block was to recormend suitable persons to the various committees.
After the recommendation sheets were in, the Daihyo Sha was to elect a
seleotion committee to make the final recommendation to the various com-
mittees. The committee members thus chosen were to be subject to the final
approval of the administration and the people.”

Kuratomi made the recommendation for a mass meeting and also advised
that written personal histories should be attached to the names of the recommend-
ees. Kal suggested that a written report of the decision of the Recommendation
or Seleotion Committee be distributed in the blooks the next day and that the
Daihyo Sha also be given the privilege of making recommendations to the com-

mittees. These suggestions were approved. The ways and means of recommendation

were to be left to each ward (or bloek?). Both the persons making recommendation

and those individuals recommended for positions were to be 21 years old or older.

By Monday, November , it was hoped that the permanent committee would be
seleoted and work on the farm would be resumed. The meeting closed with the
decision that the Daihyo Sha organize the celebration of Meiji Setsu, the birth-
day of the Emperor Meiji whioch fell on the next day.

The tone of this meeting is very optimistic. There is no indication
whatever that the leaders, headed by Kai and Kuratomi had smy other intention

but to push through the election of the permanent body which they had received
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Best's and Myer's permission to organize. Once this body was in existence it
would be very diffioult for the Administration not to "recognize" it. The
impression gained is that the negotiators felt they had gained recognition and
that by and large, they had a fairly clear field before them, Had there been
no further incident, this group of leaders might have kept control of the camp
for some time. The more level-headed leaders were not unaware of the danger
of such outbursts as that which resulted in the beating of Dr. Pedicord.
Efforts were made to control the over-enthusiastic belligerent, strong-arm group.
Announcements, such as those desoribed by Mr. Nakao, were made in the mess halls:
"The Block Representatives would come baok to the block and state
that the young fellows - those in their teens and up to 22 - ztxke thx
were too hot tempered and they would like them to be quiet and decent.
All the blook representatives came back to the block and said for the
young people not to take matters into their own hands. This was right
after the farm accident in October."l
As for the Administration, in spite of the hysteria of certain individuals,
the men in the higher positions thought that the orisis had passed. Opler is

reported to have said on the night of November 3 that there wasn't going to be

any trouble .2

Committeg meets with Spanish Consul

On November 3 the Spanish Consul F, de Amat arrived on the project to
investigate November 1 ¥isturbance. He came at the request of the farm group
made through a letter signed by Kuratomi. Senor de Amet was scoompanied by H.A,
Berminghoff, a representative from the State Department. He met with a group
of 20 Japanese representatives, among whom were Mr. Horiuchi and Reverend Kai.
Mr. Kuratomi acted as spokesman for the evacuees.

The minutes of this meeting are very revealing since the Japanese spoke
much more frankly to the Spanish Consul zimes than they did to Mr. Myer or Mr.

1. R, Hankey, Notes, March, 1944, p, 12,
2. According to larkmess, Superintendent of Schools, in informal sonversation
with the writer.




The first point brought up by Kuratomi concerned the presence of the
"loyal" Japanese in the center, the voluntary segregees who ceme to Tule Lake
with their relatives. He stated that there were two to four thousand such
persons in the Center, which is probably a very good estimate. Ie requested
that Washington be asked to make definite announcement at some specifie future
date that Tule Lake would be designated as a center for only those persons who
intended to go back to Japan., Mr, Bemminghoff, the representative of the State
Department, stated that it was possible that this might be dome in the future
and asked Kuratomi what he would do about those persoms who were loyal to Japan
but did not wish to repatriate. Kuratomi suggested that a separate camp might

be set up for such individuals,

Kuratomi then brought up the questionof producing food only for the

residents of Tule Lake and suggested that th; farmers who lost employment when
this polioy was oarried out might be employed in other divisions, e.g., car-
penters, block beautification, road improvement and latrine facilities. De Amat
pointed out that by producing more food than Tule lake could consume, the resi-
dents were actually helping themselves in that they ecould then exchange goods
with other centers. Kuratomi admitted that this was true but argued that since
induotion into the centers was compulsory "if the people did mot wish to work
beyond a certain point, the government will be more or less looking after the
welfare of the people in here. The food will automatically be caming in here,
regardless of the work they would perform, That is true, isn't it?" De imat
admitted this was true.

Kuratomi then asked if the people in Tule Lake could be cohaide_rod Japa-
nese nationals regardless of whether they had Japanese citizenship or not. "That

would have to go through congressional proceedings, wouldn't it?" Bemninghoff
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replied that this would be very diffiocult if not impossible. Kuratomi added
that there were some requests that the Japanese govermment be asked to grant the
nisel in Tule lake Japanese citizenship. De Amat pointed out that Kuratomi
oould not take the responsibility for all of the nisei in the center on this
matter. Kuratomi admitted this, whereupon Mr. Horiuchi added that Japan had a
nationality law of 1924 which extended oitizenship to anyone who stayed in Japan
24 hours. The nisei in camp, he stated, wished the Spanish Comsul to request
the Japanese goverrment to amend this nationality law and grant citizenship to

them, since by their actions they had manifested loyalty t-o Japan. De Amat

replied that he would have to consult with his Embassy on this matter.
Kuratomi then launched into a rather confused statement oriticizing the
Cauoasian personnel at Tule lake. The present persomnel did not understand
Japanese plychology.l
"We understand our position end we know the eircumstances under
which we are put here, so we are not here to cause any responsible
riots or disturbances so long as sincerity from the administrative
personnel is shown to us and put on type, black and white, and if their
attitude would give us the feeling that they are sincere in their words."
This is one of Kuratomi's favorite expressions.
of
Conoerning Dr. Pedicord, Kuratomi listed four cases/purported megligence,
two of which resulted in death. The Japenese doctors and nurses and the resi-
dents, stated Kuratomi, believed Pedicord incapable. Moreover, they eonsidered’
the Caucasien nurses hostile to the Japanese.2 They wished all the Camcasian
doctors and nurses removed from the hespital "to protect the safety of the
Japanese evacuees,"

Kuratomi was about to go into a disoussion of the mess problem when Mr.

Horiuchi interrupted with another question concerning Japanese c¢itizenship.

2. The writer is aoquainted with some of these nurses. Some are among the most
bigoted, anti-Japanese persons she has ever come into contact with,
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Horiuohi wished to know if Japanese in the United States Army oould be given
dual oitizenship by the Japanese government and be given a choice of staying
in the United States Army or leaving it. Mr. Berminghoff stated that when
young men in the Army were inducted they had an opportunity to make their choice.
Mr. Horiuchi replied:

"That's previous to the treatment accorded to the families. Many
were inducted before the war began, believing that if they served this
country, their parents and their brothers and sisters would be given
humane treatment as citizens of this coumtry, as human beings. But after
the war broke out, their parents and relatives were thrown into centers
like Poston, where Indians ecouldn't even live. . ."

Mr. Benninghoff asked if the boys themselves wished to leave the Army or
if this were only the desire of their relatives. Kuratomi stated that many
were held against their will and many had changed their minds. De Amat agreed
with Kuratomi, saying, "A lot of boys are in the army and their fathers are in
Santa Fe" . . . Said Benninghoff, "I don't dispute that at all. In fact, I
don't dispute anything." De Amat promised to ask for information from his
Embassy. At this point Mr. Benninghoff left the conference.

Kuratomi then reintroduced the matter of Dr, Pedicord. De /mat asked an
interesting question:

was

"Where/he before? You see, we go to the administration and hear
one side - that he is a saint - and we come here and hear something
different - that he's a devil, There is a way of knowing his past
history, the way he has worked--"

De Amat asked if the main eause of the disturbance of November 1 was dis-

satisfaction with the hospital. Kuratomi said that was one cause and the mess

was another.

De Amat: You know that I am here to help you. Why haven't you come to me
before instead of going on a strike.

Kuratomi: The reason is we have come here very lately; we have been here
only a month. It was very fortunate for us to have Mr. Myer visit us and
we thought he ocould take our grievances first to see if they would take
proper action to reotify some of the wrong doings.
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De Amat: But up to that moment you resorted to violence --
Furatomi: That wasn't done by the residents. There were two or three -
:cln:: ?T.tl.u .hothouda. That was not the produce or part of the program at
Kuratomi then brought up the unemployment condition at Tule Lake and
suggested that more persons could be employed in mess, that the policy of
having men olean the women's latrines was ridiculous and women should take
over this work, that 500 additional carpenters could be employed and that block
caretakers and blook mothers to ocare for small childrem would also help to
alleviate the unemployment situation. De Amat took @Qareful note of the
suggestions and promised to take them to the administration. He also agreed to
ask the administration if the recreation halls could be used for the proposed
Language Schools since the camp was so orowded that this was the only space
available. Kuratomi also stated that the residents would like to have clothing
allowances whether they were working or not. De /mat objeoted here, saying
that none of the centers gave clothing allowances to persons not employed. He
added: "The administration is feeling pretty sour and we don't want to have any
more trouble than is necessary and so wait until some of these things improve."
Evidently De Amat believed that there was a fair chance that the adminis-
tration would conour with the residents' demand that Pedicord and the remainder
of the Caucasian hospital staff be dismissed, for he asked Kuratomi if there

were enough Japanese nurses in camp to replace the Caucasian nurses. De Amat

also stated that Tule Lake would not have enough dootors and asked if he should

request that some be sent from Santa Fe.

Kuratomi then mcoused the projeot persomnel of graft and ran into a little
difficulty because De Amat did not have suffioient command of American slang
to understand the word, When the word was defined, he made no comment. He

was then asked if Mr, Kaghima's widow could olaim additional compensation
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through the Jepanese govermment after the war, De Amat stated that she ocould.

The very important food problem was then brought up. It is interesting
that the Spanish Consul paid far more attention to Mr., Sugimoto's report than did
Director Myer and he appeared to make a diligent attempt to understand the
accusations brought forward. Due to the questions put by the Consul, these
minutes oontain the clearest account of Sugimoto's complicated investigation
of the WRA mess situation. Sugimoto pointed out that 31¢ per person per day was
the 1944 WRA basic subsistence budget; this was the sum remaining from 45¢ with
a deduction of 14¢ to cover the produce produced by the Japanese at the farm.
Basing his investigation on the month of September 1943, he found that the total
expenditure, including the vegetables produced within the oenter was 27¢. De Amat
asked him if he eould prove this and Sugimoto replied that he could since he had
all the records. Said De Amat: "That will be very useful and very good material
to work on." The next item brought up by Sugimoto was the OPA point system. He
stated that he had found that the WRA at Tule Lake had purchased enough meat to
feed 14,700 people during the month of September 1943 and that in that month
there were less than 14,000 people in the center. For this reason the evacuees
should have been expected to receive their full point quota of meat. However,
according to the records, the Japanese were short-rationed 95,000 points which
the Caucasian personnel wes over-retioned 34,000 points., "They don't share it
in a brotherly way, do they"? oommented the Consul. Sugimoto then stated that
his investigation showed that the evacuees had been short-rationed 7,325 points
on prooessed food for the month of September, adding,

"Now, when you go over to Washington and look through the books in
the WRA office in Washington, they probably have a book with beautiful
figures - only that does not prove that these things are actually so."

De Amat: I'm going to have that im writing. . . . You have everything here?
(Woting sheet)
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Sugimoto: Every point I am reading here now, I have figures to prove. . .

T&ro 15 the matter of menu making - it is in practice all through the relocation
centers . . . Many instances, the chefs in the kitchens camnot follow that memu
for the simple reason that --

De Amat: That there is no sgueh food -=-

Sugimoto: WNo such materials ocome with the menu. That point has been stressed

y people working in the kitchen time and again to the administrative
personnel, The way we understand that, the effeotiveness of that menu, the
copy of it goes to Washington, the main "RA office, and that remains there of
what is being fed to the evacuees in the centers. In other words, the menu
itself is a misrepresentation.

De Amat: Because you don't eat that?

Sugimoto's complaint that the memus very frequently did not coincide with
the food served was quite justified not only for Tule lake but for the other
centers, It was not at all uncommon to have the menu for the day read, roast
beaf, or roast pork, while the evacuees were fed hash or bologna.

Kuratomi: If we look through the record, the mortality rate, the rate the
ohiokens die at the chicken farm, the rate is over a thousand per month and
there are 22,000 chiockens in this farm. . . Whether the chickens die wvoluntar-
ily or involuntarily, foroed to die or do on their owm accord. Lately we have
been watohing where the chiockens have been going. We find that the chickens
have been going to the persomnel mess hall., According to Mr., Best, everything

that is raised in the farms here, ineluding chiokens and hogs, should be given
to the evacuees. . «

De Amat asked how many persons ate in the persomnel mess and on being told
that there were from 150 to 180 he pointed out that that number of people could

not possibly eat a thousand chickens even if they ate from breakfast to dimmer,

Sugimoto: Food is disappearing. There must be some loophole, but the point
we are trying to prove is that food is disappearing and that we are not getting
it.

Mr, Kuratomi then told the Comsul that Mr. Best had promised to talk things
over with the committee, that he had furthermore promised that he would ocooperate
with them to the fullest extent so that some of the complaints and suggestions
were fulfilled, and that he would request standard porches for each barrack and

to improve the latrine econditions.




- 104 -

"So we have to wait to see whether he is sincere or not. In case

he should fail to keep his promise maybe we will have to call you in and

have your presence in this center again, Will that be all right with you?
De Amat: Yes, that ie why I am here -- to protect the interests of the Japanese
people. "hen I read in the papers that you strike, I get very upset, because
I want you to do all you can and I want to do all I can to help you.

Kuratomi them told the story of how Mr, Best refused to grant permission to
hold a public funeral end of Mr, Best's attitude on October 1 when Kuratomi and
several other men from Jerome had gone to see him to hold an informal discussion.
De Amat's reaction was very interesting:

De Amat: Who do you think would be a good director here?

Kuratomi: That's hard to say--

De Amat: Who? Who do you think among the other ocenters.

Kuratomi: For this place. We will find you a man. I think Mr. Robertson.l

If Wir. Best should not want to cooperate with us and if he should keep his
hostile attitude we will contact you again,

[ In closing the conference, Consul De Amat made the following encouraging

remark;

"I enjoyed talking with you. Everything was very reasonable, which
is an exception. Frequently I have complaints that have no foundation but
~everything we have talked about today makes quite a lot of sense and I am
hopeful that part of it will be arranged, not all of it, but part of it.
The oontrast between the attitude which De Amat showed to the committee

that shown by Mr. Best is indeed striking. It is evident that the Consul was
impressed with the gemeral tome of the requests and complaints and exhibited a
remarkably sympathetic attitude. He acted as if he intended %o take action on
the food situation and asked significant questions about a possible successor

to Mr. Best. The questions put by Horiuchi concerning the status of Japanese
nationals, the possibility that Japan might grant the nisei in Tule lake Japa-
nese eitizenship and the possibility of getting Japanese out of the United States

Army into Tule Lake all indiocate the attitude of mind prevailing among a certain

1, Mr. Robertson was at this time direotor of Leupp.
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part of the population at this time. It is small wonder that Kuratomi, speaking
of this meeting told the writer, "That was one of the most amicable meetings we
ever had. . . He (De Amat) asked us, 'Is it all right for me to leave?' I told
him frankly that everything was under control. Then when he came back again

(on November ) he was rather peeved with ue."l

November 4 Meeting of the Daihyo Sha Kai

On the night of November 4, the Daihyo Sha Kai met again to proceed with

the important matter of the organization of a permanent representative grcmp.2
Kuratomi, when asked to elarify the extremely confused minutes explained to the
writer that the election of the seven or eight proposed permanent committees
wag the main object., This action was still to be approved by the administration
and the people. The people were at liberty to reject any nominee or any com-
mittee or to add additional committees if they echose. Once these committees
were functioning, it was the intent of the Negotiating Committee and the Daihyo
Sha to resign. "The entire body of the Daihyo Sha intended to resign and be
Fephud." [Provioul %o this meeting the residents of each block had handed in
Ilh‘Sof sugzested persons for each committee and it was the task of the
"Seleotion Committee" of the Daihyo Sha to select the permanent committeemen from
these lists, These seleotions were subjeot to the approval of the body of the
Daihyo Sha. “The only thing left to d' s to bring this up to the administra-

tion for their approval. We also intended to have the mass meeting and

explain this to the people."aj

Matters did not run at all smoothly and the body wrestled with the problem

and argued for six hours, from eight in the evening until two in the morning.

1, R, Hankey, Notes, September 18, 1944, p. 7.

2. It is interesting that according to Kuratomi, considerable consideration

was given to the Poston method of organization at the time of the Poston strike.
(Find out who was responsible for this - Nomura? Sugimoto?

3. R, Hankey, Notes, September 18, 1944, pp. 8-9.
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gince much of the disocussion is very interesting, this meeting will be desoribed
in detail.
Disoussion of the business on hand was begun by Yamatani who reported that

in Ward I there had been no recommendations at all for the Selection Committee

and suggested that the Daihyo Sha appoint a committes of nine men,l Takahashi

oriticized this method of seleotion and suggested instead that the Seleetion
Committee be composed of men who represented each center.

Kuratomi asked for suggestions as to a practical procedure to follow in
the seleotion. A man named Yamagata suggested that the Seleotion Gomm.:lttoo be
chosen from people with technical abilities. Thereupon, Mr. Yamamoto, a strong
supporter of Mr, Takahashi, jumped the gun and nominated Takahashi to the
Seleotion Committee. An anonymous person suggested that the Committee be
seleocted by wards. Uchida then spoke up in favor of Takahashi's suggestion that
the Committee be piocked according to Centers, recommending that one or two
persons be chosen from each center. Kuratomi disagreed, stating that since there
were segregees from eight different centers this would result in some unfairnmess.

Yamatani resumed the argument to seleoct the committees on a ward basis,
pointing out that Poston had three camps and that blook 31 had recommended 43
persons for one committee "because they only had ome day to study and seleot
those recommendees."> Mohri thereupon suggested that the Selection Committee
be seleoted from each genter and that nine or ten additional men from the

Daihyo Sha Kai be put upon the committee. This suggestion was accepted by the

body-
Having at length decided to have a negotiating committee composed jointly

of representatives from each center and nine men from the Daihyo Sha, the body

1. Kuratomi says he thinks this was Ward IV, not Ward I,
2., This was true, said Kuratomi - Some blocks recommended 3 to 5 men for
each committee.
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next disoussed how meny men should represent each center. However, before this
disocussion got wunder way Mr. Mohri, a Daihyo Sha member, who had fallen asleep,
woke up and remarked, "One out of the whole center"? Kuratomi answered:

Chair: We are discussing about the 4th plan which is your recommendation,
wasn't it?

Mohri did not reply.
The disoussion then continued in very confused fashion. Eventually the
matter was put to a vote and decided as follows:
Two persons from each center - 36
One person from each center - 17
Two persons from each center and three from Poston - 14
This matter having been decided, the persons from the same center were in-

structed to get together and seleot the persomnel of the Selection Committee.

At this mome Tho meeting was interrupted dramatically by the entrance of

Yoshio Kobayashi, a young polioce warden who reported that Caucasians were trans-
porting food supplies teo the outside by trucks. Mr, Tsuda, the chief warden
instructed him to return, take the license number of the %rucks, keep note of
the food stuff being taken out and report to the supervisor at once. According
to the minutes:
"He further advised Kobayashi not to go alone but stop at the

Internal Seourity and pick up three or four night patrols to go along

with him and he further warned to refrain from taking rash actions by

all means, Kobayashi bowed and went out. Upon hearing this conversa-

tion several youths followed Kobayashi." : '

s matter, which was di so casually, eventually brought about the

ruin ; S 3 P will be disoussed in detail shortly. Kuratomi

told the writer later:

"If I'd kmown anything like November 4th would have happened I'd
have sent Mr, Tsuda down, I didn't think it was such a bad condition.
Mr, Tsuda felt about the same as I did."l

l. R, Hankey, Notes, December 26, 1944, p. 3.
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The meeting continued and the Selection Committee of 15 persons was chosen,
Topaz, Tule lake, Poston, Gila, Heart Mountain, Jerome, Rohwer and Manzanar
were represented, Granada and Minldoka were not,

Sinoce it was now past 11:30, Mr, Takehashi suggested that the selection of
the remainder of the committeemen (the Daihyo Sha representatives) be put off
until the next meeting. Reverend Kai objeoted, stating that for the sake of
the Project Direotor and the colonists, the task should be completed even if it
took all night, At this moment another young man ran into the meeting and re-
ported that the Army had entered the Center. The mimutes state: "Noise of guns
and machine guns, which broke the Muilllty of a cold dark night, inoreased."
Kai instructed certain young men to order the boys to disperse before any injury
ooccurred,

The questioning of ocontinuing the meeting until the seleotions were ocon-
oluded was put to a vote and it was unanimously agreed to continue, The task
before the Selection Committee was tremendous. Many blooks had recommended a
great many people, on a special form provided by the Daihyo Sha, listing the
name of the conmittee, the men recommended, a brief history of the men, and
their bloek, Each position had from 150 to 200 potential candidates and a
stack ofpapers eight inches high awaited the committee.l

The minutes continue dramatiocally:

"It was now 1:30 A.M, and the thundering roar of the tanks, armored trucks,
and jeeps rumbled near the blook 15 Mess Hall,"

The minutes state that the Selection Committee surrounded Kai and that he
g personally seleoted the new permanent body "by asting quiokly as a machine."
\_&"\. (_‘ﬂu writer doubts this,\ In any case, the seleotions were completed by 2:00 A.M,
and the meeting was adjourned, the mimutes ending with the ominous remark:

* . 1. Ibid-. J.llllll'y 2. 19‘5| p' ‘.
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"Sound of the guns were no longer audible, however the rumbling of
the Army trucks and tanks was heard."

The writer has been informed that on this night, the Diahyo Sha also
selected a very important body, their future Executive Bosrd. This action does
not appear in any part of the minutes. This board was intended to be the chief
"governing body" of the future, dependent, of course, on the approval of the
people. It was composed of five men: Ichiro Hayashi, Nogawa, Yukio Tanska,
Mitsuo Kimura, and H. Tsuda. These men were later to take on the important task
of negotiating with the Army, an activity which resulted in their eventual
detention in the stookade.l Needless to say, the appearance of this "new

conmittee" csaused the Army and the WRA considerable bewilderment.

The Warehouse Incident - Army Takes Over

While the Daihyo Sha was struggling with this difficult task of selecting

permanent committees, events were transpiring which radically altered the situ-

ation and rendered all their efforts in vain.[;\s has been previously mentioned,

8 Aanond
a group of young-fedlews had been guarding the warehouse area to see that no

more food was taken away for the harvesters-}ﬂ\ether these %iuni ien had taken

up these duties at the behest of the Daihyo Sha is not lm The administration
has always contended that the guarding of the warehouses and the resuiting;
trouble was the work of the Daihyo Sha., That Kai and Kuratomi were actually
implicated, the writer doubts strongly. On the other hand, a young member of
the Negotiating Committee has told the writer that he was in charge of the
warehouse guard, a group of reckless fellows who, he stated, were very hard

to control. This young men later became & member of a faction which opposed

Kai and Kuratomi and it is not unlikely that this group of young men took this

1. Ibid., January 11, 1945, p. 3.
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adventure upon themselves much against the better judgment of certain of the
Daihyo Sha leaders. Some of them were judo boys, feeling their oats and eager
for action., A member of the Daihyo sha, deseribed the boys in this group as
"dumb and irresponsible."l The writer knows several of the boys who were

present. They considered themselves very tough and, by and large, were better

supplied with bri tlnn br

motor pool employees were closely connected with them and were prepared to give

‘ﬁ
a fair smount of organization, Certain of the

immediate notice if amy trucks were taken out at night. {Zhe-meber-pool at this.
time—waE lvomted very nesr-Me, Bestle residenee+) About 9:50 p.m. Mr., Best sent
four members of the persomnel to get the keys for three trucks. The m
workers at the motor pool, believing that these trucks were to be used to take
more food to the "loyal" harvesters, refused to give them the keys. "li.h:'5
Cauoasians hﬁ)“ returned with several men from Internal Soourity aney
took out the trucks., At some place between the administration building and the
warehouse area a fight broke out between the Caucasians and the young m’

guarding the warehouse, The\wpiter is of the opinion that complete )rult

carmot be put in any of &

began or what oue}’z&

testified he and two other officers s MO Japanese s

group two or three around the warehouses. Kobayashi, the “ warden who
had brought the news of the "atitempt to remove food" to the Daihyo Sha Kai
meeting, drove up to the administration parking area, According to -ﬁh‘b‘in
secownt, Kobaydhi and sha other§Japamese attacked him.2 According to another
Caucasian in the fight, he himself "1it into the Japanese after they called

1. R, Hankey, Notes, July 30, 1944, pp. 5-6.
2. Abridged FBI report, pp. 9-10.
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him "dirty names."l Whoever may have started the fﬁ. a soore or more of
R
the warehouse #guards’ fought with five Caucasians y Y.

Ynbernai-Sevurtey was very badly beaten, Shouts of Bf\&. " are purported
to have been heard.’ Mr, Schmidt, Head of Internal Soourityn called the

for holp.3 Mm The Army answered the call, marched

A
in with guns and tanks, and with the assistance of Internmal Security arrested

18 young men in the warehouse and closely ad joining personnel residence area
and in that part of the camp ad joining that area. All but nine of these young
men were released the same night, Almost all of them came from 'ropu.‘
Several gepamewe were severely injured.

The above is all that is kmown to have ocourred. Omn every other detail
there is ocontradiction and disagreement. Almost every account, whether related

Rurporetted ' S
by a Caucasian or afNjwpemese, differsAss.

Among these important controversial points are the use for which the
trucks were intended, the comtention of some of the members of the appointed
persommel that the m intended to kidnap Mr, Best and the question of
whether or not certain of the m arrested were brutally beaten in the

statistios office by members of Internal Security before being turned over to

the Amy.]lr. Spicer in his letter to Provinse and Dillon Myer in an interview

with the writer stated that the trucks taken out were not intended to transpert
food from the warchouse but were to be used to transport more harvesters.®
Other members of the administration, among them Dr. Opler, believe that the

trucks were being sent for food, as do almost all the Japanese.

1. According to Caucasian informant relating the story a member of Intermal
Sesurity told in the mess hall the next morming.

2. WRA, Tule Lake Imeident, Sequence of Events, p. 5,

3. So Schmidt stated to the writer.

4., WRA, Tule Lake Incident, Sequence of Events, p. 5.

5. ¥bid. Spicer to Provinse, November 14, 1943
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According to Mr. Spicer it was generally believed by the appointed personnel
that the Japanese intended to kidnap Mr. Best. Spicer himself said, "Frankly,
I am doubtful."l One of the writer's Japanese informants took a leading part
in the November 4 fracas and had little hesitation in admitting that he and his
bunch were there to stop the food from being taken out and intended to make
trouble if neoessery. When asked, however, if the boys had any intent to kidnap
Mr. Best, he said, "Hell, mo, what would we want him for?"2

The matter of the beatings in the Statisties office is befogged by numerous
conflicting accounts. Schmidt and Mahrt, who are chiefly accused by the evacuees,
insist that the Japanese were injured during the fight and were taken into the
office to have their wounds dressed.® Several reliable Caucasian informants
tell stories which contradiot this, stating that on the morning of November 5
the walls of the Statistios Office were spattered with blood and hair in a
manner which could only result from a beating. There was also a bloody baseball
bat in the corner of the room.! (The Statistios Office is so situated that
unlike most of the other rooms in the administration building it cannot be seen
from the outside.) Dr, Fujii told the writer that he had treated Kobayashi for
a slight head injury after the fight and before he was taken into custoedy.
Three days later Dr, Fujii was called to treat some of the men in eustody and
saw Kobayashi with his face tremendously swollen and bandages on his arms and
legs. He also saw a boy with a brokem arm and one with a great gash in his
head which required eight stitches. ™ujii, who made his statement very
carefully, is certain that Kobayashi was taken into oustody with only a slight

head injury.5

1, Thid.

2. ¥, Hankey, Notes, Sept. 11, 1944, pp. 5-6,

3. So Sohmidt stated to the writer in informal conversation,
4, R, Hankey, Notes, February 1944, p. 36,

6. Ibid., April 1044, pp. 34, 35.
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It is very difficult to give a pioture of the panic and confusion which
prevailed at this time merely by listing the details of what occurred and what
is purported to have ocourred. An extraordinarily vivid desoription of the
night of November 4th was given to the writer by ome of the nisei nurses' aides
who was on duty in the hospital at that time. This girl was anti-Daihyo Sha
and very hostile to the "kibei" and the trouble-makers. She is an honest and
intelligent informant and her verbatim story expresses the atmosphere of this
confused night exocellently:

"That night a man walked in with blood gushing from his face. He
was the canteen watchman., We put him on a table. Then another man walked
in, He had a flesh wound in his head from a bullet., Then some soldiers
walked in and told us to stand where we were, Then we were sent around
the wards to quiet the patients.

"Then an awful banging came on the doors. We had to open the doors.
Oh boy - those soldiers were scared, I tell you., They were actually
shivering. They even went around looking under the beds. The poor
patients didn't know what was going on.

"Then they started bringing in the boys who had been hurt. All of
the boys had to hold up their hands all the time., They brought in Tokio
Yamane. He had to hold up his hands all the time and meanwhile the
soldiers would poke him in the back with a gumn,

"The soldiers - maybe it was the psychological effect - they seemed
so glad, They'd laugh and say, 'Huh, you Japs, we'll shoot you.' Then
they'd laugh and laugh. It seemed so childish,

"Tokio Yamane wasn't hurt when they brought him in., It was later
that they brought in the boys who had had their arms twisted. Ome boy
had his ribs fractured. Their heads were all bashed up. They were such
young kids. |

"Some motor pool boys came in too. We pretended they were hospital
boys so they wouldn't be arrested. We put them to washing dishes,

"We were terminated later as of November 4 so we never got paid for
all the time we worked overtime then.

"When they brought in those boys they didn't look as if they had
fought man to man, They looked beaten,"l

First Impact of Army Rule on the Residents

[ The Army, under the leadership of Lt. Col. Austin, now took over full control

of the ocamp., On the morning of November 5, when the Japanese working in the ad-

ministrative area reported for work, they were stopped by a cordon of soldiers

1. Ibidop Allgult 2‘. 19“. P Se
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stationed at intervals of a few yards and told to return to their barracks.
The large majority of these people were probably ignorant of the events of the
preceding night.

A large mumber of #emwat informants state that they did not hear the guns or
tanks and had no idea that anything untoward had oocourred until they attempted to
g0 to work the next day. This is very possible sinoce those J=pswese nearest the
soene of the fight live over ome-quarter mile away., However, persons living in
that section of the ocamp nearest the Administration building kmew that some
violence was af'oot. ’

Since about a thousand people worked im=the outside af the at that
time, the orowd soon grew very large. It was augmented by curious persons and by
the parents or relatives of the young women employed in the hospital who had not

been allowed to return to their huu: that night. The soldiers tu tear gas at

the oro'd' .

The soene is desoribed by an evacuee:
"The next morning, everybody like usual went to report to work and

all the Japanese truck drivers were stopped by the guards, searched and

told to go back. They said they had to go to work. The soldiers told

them to go back, not to oome mear the place. Some of the fellows still

argued and the soldiers kicked some of them. Everybedy was gathering at

the front of their own bloocks. the Army started throwing tear gas at

them and told them to go home,."l

This experience of being the targets for tear gas was resented so bitterly
that even ten months later, the eyes of otherwise meek Tuleans would flash with
indignation when the subjeot was brought up. It appears that gince the erowd had
had no more dangerous motive than curiosity or the desire to go to work the
barrage of tear gas was looked upon with the extreme and natural resentment of
the immocent unjustly acoused and attacked., Mr, Sato, who was so meek and timid

when interviewed by the writer that he dared answer only in the most uninformative
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monosyllables grew suddenly animated when asked how he felt about the morning of
November 5. He saild furiously:
"We weren't angry because they put the men in the stockade. We got

mad because the Army came in that night with sub-machine guns and tear gas.

We were all willing to go to work but they wouldn't let us go. They took

our oivil rights away, That's what made us mad."l

The resentment expressed because they were not allowed to go to work,
though all were willing, is also significant, Under Army control, compulsory
idleness was imposed on most of the evacuees, bringing with it the stoppage of
the monthly 12 to 19 dollar stipend. Only the block managers, the hospital em-
ployees, and the mess orews contimued to work., This sudden work stoppage for
the majority of the center's residents was their first taste of hardship due to
the strike and the outting off of their salary ohecks was later to become the

most unbearable of the inconveniences of Army rule,

Daihyo Sha Kai Takes Action to Quiet the People

The same day the Daihyo Sha Kai, which appears to have had complete ocontrol

of the Tulean Dispatoh during this period, published an acoount of the warehouse
disturbance and a gtern exhortation to keep order.

COOPERAT ION ASKED.

Army Oocupied Administration Area, Follawln; Ingident

"By a minor incident last night the center administration eres was temporarily
ocoupied by the army, who maintained a striet guard of the camp.

The Administration area was completely cut off from the rest of the center
by patrolling M.P's. Number of tear gas bombs were thrown at residents standing
by the zone limit.

Barb wire fences are being built southwest of the hospital area to keep the
residents away from the Ad, area,

However, the facts of the incident are being closely guarded by the people's
committees."”

1. August 14, 1944, p. 3.
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Residents Asked To Stay Calm, Com., Pass Resolutions

"Trust in the aotions of the resident's delegates, and do not take any
individual actions," exolaimed the committee of seven representatives chosen
to settle Thursday might's incident.,! Five resolutions were passed by the
committee affecting the colonists' conduct during the following week.

"Young men are asked to be sensible and prudent due to the present situation,
and residents are asked to refrain from spreading unfounded rumors, and congre-
gating in more than five in & group. That the WRA properties within the center
should not be damaged or destroyed, was emphasized by the committee resolutions,

"The resolutions were agreed upon by the representatives to bring about a
peaceful conclusion, end violators of the rules will be punished by due action
of the entire populace warned the committee. The delegates also stated that the
infractors of these rules are working against the peace, harmony and the well
being of the entire eamp."

Center Residents Pass Regulations

The following regulations governing the conduct of the residents during
the ensuing period have bheen made by the seven representatives delegated by the
residents and their dol.g-tulz

1. Trust the actions of this committee and do not take any individual actions.
2« Do not congregate in groups of more than five in the open.

3. Do not spread any unfounded rumors,

4, Young men! Be sensible and prudent about everything that you do.

5. Do not destroy anything in the center. Leave the entire camp and its
faocilities as it has been in the past.

Any persons who willfully violate these regulations will be punished hy due
action of the entire populace as the infractor is working against the peace
harmony and well being of the emtire camp.

EDITORIAL

Let's Baok Up Our Delegates

Residentsl Let us show our faith in our representatives by oheying
their regulations!

We have delegated our representatives to negotiate for us and act for us;
they were not seleoted just as figureheads.

The merits of this wise step taken by our delegates can be readily seen by
every thinking resident. The measures that they had taken in the form of these
regulations was not a measure to gshow their authority; they had taken this step
to protect us.

1, As explained by Kuratomi: "That was the Negotiating Committee. Nogawa was

on it too. Volunteers were added to bring things to a favorable solution. Anyone
who had an empty hand was asked to help it. The men were able volunteers who held
some important position in the coming permanent body (chosen at the Nov. 4 meeting).
They weren't delegated. We had to do it in an arbitrary mammer." R. Hankey, Notes
Jan. 2, 1945, p. 4. b il




The rash and hasty actions of a few who because of bitterness or anger take
things into their own hands without stopping to think is not doinz the community

% any good. They are just jeopardizing the welfare of all of their fellow resi-
dents.

Fellow iuidcntsl Let us take steps to punish any person who may disregard
these rules!

1. All of the above quotations from Tulean Dispatch, November 5, 1943,




